

Low Library Columbia University New York, NY October 17-19, 2011

CONFERENCE REPORT









CLIMATE SERVICES



International Conference on Climate Services Conference Report

Low Library Columbia University New York, NY

October 17-19, 2011

Acknowledgements

Organizing Hosts

International Research Institute for Climate and Society
The Earth Institute at Columbia University

Steering Committee Members

Jan Egeland, Executive Director of Human Rights Watch's Europe & Central Asia Division

Sylvie Jousseaume, Director, Paris Consortium of Climate-Environment-Society **Antonio Moura**, Director of the Meteorological Institute of Brazil

Lianchun Song, Director-General, National Climate Center, China Meteorological Administration

Julia Slingo, Chief Scientist, U.K. Met Office

Youba Sokona, Coordinator of the African Climate Policy Center

Stephen Zebiak, Director-General, International Research Institute for Climate and Society

Organizing Committee Members

Walter Baethgen, International Research Institute for Climate and Society Ko Barrett, US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Haresh Bhojwani, International Research Institute for Climate and Society Guy Brasseur, German Climate Service Center Lawrence Buja, US National Center for Atmospheric Research Chris Hewitt, UK Met Office Elke Lord, German Climate Service Center Meredith Muth, US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Michael Tanner, US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Cathy Vaughan, International Research Institute for Climate and Society

Financial Support

The Earth Institute, Columbia University
International Research Institute for Climate and Society
US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
British Consulate-General Houston
German Climate Service Center

Author of the Conference Report

Cathy Vaughan

Meeting Rapporteurs

Sari Blakely
Lisette Braman
Elena Crete
Alexa Jay
Allyza Lustig
Madeleine Rubenstein
Jessica Sharoff
Ken Sinclair
Dan Sousa
Meg Sutton
Cynthia Thomson

Citation for this report:

Vaughan, C. 2011. "International Conference on Climate Services: Conference Report." New York, New York: International Research Institute for Climate and Society. IRI Technical Report 11-05.

Table of Contents

ACRONYMS	6
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	7
OPENING REMARKS	10
WELCOME ADDRESS	10
KEYNOTE ADDRESS	10
PRESENTATION OF GLOBAL FRAMEWORK FOR CLIMATE SERVICES	11
CLIMATE SERVICES IN PRACTICE	13
REGIONAL PERSPECTIVE: CLIMATE SERVICES IN AFRICA	13
NEEDS PERSPECTIVE: INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF THE RED CROSS	14
RESEARCH PERSPECTIVE: INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE FOR CLIMATE AND SOCIETY	15
NATIONAL PERSPECTIVE: UNITED STATES	16
NATIONAL PERSPECTIVE: UNITED KINGDOM	17
CLIMATE SERVICES CASE STUDY: NIDIS	19
BREAKOUT SESSIONS	21
ELEMENTS OF SUCCESSFUL CLIMATE SERVICES	21
IDENTIFYING THE DEMAND FOR CLIMATE SERVICES	21
CREATING, ACCESSING AND USING DATA	23
FACILITATING KNOWLEDGE EXCHANGE	26
Enabling Successful Climate Services	28
ENGAGING THE SCIENTIFIC COMMUNITY	28
DESIGNING POLICIES AND INSTITUTIONAL PARTNERSHIPS	29
ESTABLISHING INNOVATIVE FUNDING MECHANISMS	32
CLIMATE SERVICES PARTNERSHIP WORKING GROUP DISCUSSIONS	33
Knowledge Capture	33
IDENTIFYING USER NEEDS	36
GOOD PRACTICES IN THE USE OF CLIMATE INFORMATION	37
ECONOMIC VALUATION OF CLIMATE SERVICES	38
LINKING TO THE GFCS AND OTHER PROCESSES	40
CLIMATE SERVICES PARTNERSHIP ACTION PLAN	41
FOSTERING CONNECTIONS: THE ICCS PROCESS	41
SHARING LESSONS LEARNED: CSP KNOWLEDGE CAPTURE PORTAL	41
CREATING NEW KNOWLEDGE: CSP WORKING GROUP ACTIONS	42
ECONOMIC VALUATION OF CLIMATE SERVICES	42
IDENTIFYING USER NEEDS	42
KNOWLEDGE CAPTURE, TRANSFER AND EXCHANGE	43
LINKING TO THE GFCS AND OTHER PROCESSES	43
CONCLUDING REMARKS	43

45
45
47
51
52
56
65
67
68
70

Acronyms

AP Adaptation Partnership

CCAFS Climate Change Agriculture and Food Security theme of CGIAR CGIAR Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research

CRRH Regional Committee for Hydraulic Resources

CSC Climate Service Center (Germany)
CSP Climate Services Partnership
GCM Global Circulation Model

GFCS Global Framework for Climate Services

ICCS International Conference on Climate Services
IFRC International Federation for the Red Cross

IRI International Research Institute for Climate and Society

NCAR National Center for Atmospheric Research (US)

NIDIS National Integrated Drought Information System (US)

NGO Non-Governmental Organization

NOAA National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (US)

RC RC CC Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre

UN United Nations

UNFCCC United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

USAID US Agency for International Development WCC3 World Climate Change Conference 3

WFP World Food Program

WMO World Meteorological Organization

Executive Summary

Increasing awareness of the central role that climate plays in human welfare has not been matched with an ability to use climate information to manage climate-related risk. To better address this shortfall, the first International Conference on Climate Services (ICCS 1) created a space for discussion and dialogue among a wide range of organizations involved in the development and provision of climate services.

ICCS 1 was organized by representatives from the US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, the US National Center for Atmospheric Research, the UK Met Office, the German Climate Service Center, Columbia University's Earth Institute, and the International Research Institute for Climate and Society. Building on the intellectual and practical contributions of a range of antecedents, the ICCS was intended to help participants identify challenges and opportunities in the development and provision of climate services. The ICCS was also intended to further the development of institutional mechanisms necessary to gather, generate, exchange, and disseminate climate-related knowledge and information in support of climate-smart development.

To this end, the ICCS culminated in the creation of a Climate Services Partnership (CSP). The CSP will connect disparate climate service initiatives from around the world, providing a forum by which those engaged in climate services development can document progress, share experiences, and compare lessons learned. The CSP will further collaboration on at least three levels:

- The CSP will encourage and sustain connections between climate information providers, users, donors, and researchers by continuing ICCS process
- 2. The CSP will promote gathering, synthesizing and dissemination of current knowledge on climate services by way of an online knowledge capture platform.
- 3. The CSP will facilitate the generation of new knowledge on critical topics in climate service development and provision, through the creation of focused medium-term working groups.

The conference included a mix of talks and breakout sessions to inform the creation of the CSP.

Opening remarks from Stephen E. Zebiak, director-general of the IRI, and Jeffery D. Sachs, director of Columbia University's Earth Institute, set the tone and provided their perspective on the need and role for climate services.

Deputy Secretary-General of the World Meteorological, Jeremiah Lengoasa, also presented the goals and priorities of the Global Framework for Climate Services (GFCS). The GFCS is an international effort to ensure that the availability of user-friendly products to help in decision making and planning for changing climate

conditions. Linking the CSP to the GFCS is an explicit priority of both groups, as they each seek to create a context in which climate information can better enable climate-smart policy and decision-making.

Opening remarks were complemented by a series of talks designed to provide a range of perspectives on the need for and role of climate services. This included perspectives from the developed and developing world, and from both users and researchers.

After these talks, participants engaged in breakout group discussions focused on identifying the elements of successful climate services. Breakout topics included: Identifying the Demand for Climate Services; Creating Accessing, and Using Data; and Facilitating Systematic Knowledge Exchange. Together, these discussions explored challenges and opportunities in these critical requirements for climate services.

A second set of breakout discussions focused on how to create an enabling environment for climate services. These sessions explored how to create an enabling environment for climate services by Engaging the Scientific Community, Designing Policies and Institutional Partnerships, and Establishing Innovative Funding Mechanisms.

The breakout group provided an opportunity for participants to discuss the specific questions mentioned in the conference white paper. They also highlighted challenges and opportunities to climate service development. Importantly, the breakout sessions identified crosscutting issues of interest to participants and the climate service community as whole.

These issues were presented as possible working group topics, and participants were encouraged to join one the group to discuss activities that they could undertake in the next year. These discussions were then folded into the presentation of the Climate Services Partnership Action Plan. This Action Plan includes three parts.

1. A discussion of the ICCS process, including where/when follow-on meetings might be held, what sorts of themes they should explore, and how we can secure funding.

The group designated a coordinating committee to guide the CSP, and decided the next ICCS would be held in Hamburg in September 2012.

2. A discussion of the CSP knowledge management platform, including where this will be housed, who will manage it, and the principles that will guide contributions.

The group decided that the knowledge management portal would be developed, and that it would take submissions from partners. The portal will be developed at the IRI, in collaboration with partners who will help define the principles that will guide contributions.

3. An outlining of the most important working group actions.

These included an examination of the chain of users, a review of methods to value climate services, and efforts to link to the GFCS.

Opening Remarks

Welcome Address

Stephen Zebiak Director-General International Research Institute for Climate and Society

Summary points

The provision of timely and tailored climate information in the form of climate services can help society limit the economic, ecological, and social damages caused by climate-related impacts and take advantage of opportunities provided by favorable conditions. But while the need for climate services is increasingly recognized, we are still not able to meet the need.

The goal of this conference is to construct a Climate Services Partnership that will facilitate international collaboration regarding the development and provision of climate services. The intent is to create a dynamic network focused on action. The Partnership will complement the Global Framework for Climate Services.

Keynote Address

Jeffrey D. Sachs Director The Earth Institute, Columbia University

Jeff Sachs focused his talk on the issues that we currently face, and are projected to worsen with global climate change. He pointed out that we already have crisis in food supplies, extreme weather events, disasters beyond national capacity, and climate plays the major role in these events.

His focal point example was the drought in the horn of Africa. Due to drought the area has experienced waves of instability that are associated with Climate disaster. These include unstable economies, high inflation, high food prices, famine, growing violence, high mortality and migration. The ripple effect can attributed to the regional backdrop of one poorest and most unstable areas of the world with soaring populations and a 20-25% secular decline in precipitation.

Sachs pointed to the fact that there exists little way to quantify the regional trend in the horn of Africa with current climate services. Governments have no place to turn to get climate information, or even get an understanding of what the scientific debate is about. The result being that climate information takes almost no part in international meetings. He illustrated how policy makers in a situation that clearly

involves the role of future climate, such a prolonged drought, were not seeking out climate information. Even if government or national organizations seek out climate information or forecasting, they have no way of engaging the science community. They have to go to multiple sources, which often provide conflicting information, and disseminate that information. This lack of communication results in climate services not entering the policy debate.

In order to remedy this problem Sachs called for downscaling services to bring global models to a regional level, on temporally relevant scales. He emphasized that the user would ask, what does this climate information mean for me, my city, my country, and my region? These questions are pertinent to decisions in every region of the world and there is a need for an authoritative and trustworthy place to get these answers.

He also suggested that every region needs to have a risk assessment capacity. Each region needs to identify how they are vulnerable and what they are vulnerable to. Once this is defined the region can take the next steps of how they can manage and reduce that risk. Both of these steps are connected strongly to climate services. Sachs also mentioned that even some regions who currently have risk assessments, do not have comprehensive ones as they do not include a changing global climate. By creating the proposed user interface there exists the opportunity to create these assessments with greater ease and more accuracy.

Sachs envisions a "call center" for forecast that would include a portfolio of risk for every region. This call center would be the first step in encouraging policy makers to get involved in the discussion and recognize the risk. It bridges the gap and makes policy makers feel less isolated from the science of Climate prediction.

Presentation of Global Framework for Climate Services

Jeremiah Lengoasa Deputy Secretary-General World Meteorological Organization

Jeremiah Lengoasa began his talk by pointing to the fact that society is informed by past experience. However, global climate change will ultimately affect changes in climate extremes. Therefore, societies past experiences are a poor judge of future climate impacts. In contrast, scientific climate knowledge and predication skill is increasing and improving at a high rate. There is a high need to communicate this new knowledge. He expressed particular interest in high impact climate events, even is they are low probability. There is a need to recognize these scenarios in risk assessments.

Lengoasa continued to discuss areas that are at risk for high impact climate events and noted that there is a sharp lack of infrastructure and capacity for climate

services in the countries that need them the most. There is a need for attention to be paid to these areas immediately with current climate information. His vision of this attention would be to create a global system to generate and electronically exchange climate data and products. Such a system would need to be combined with an initiative to have countries upgrade climate service capacities so they can contribute and participate in this discussion. Without this local contribution, regions will be weary of trusting incoming climate information. He suggested that climate scientists should create an initial suite of new knowledge products and apply it in a user based interface. The second step would be to create local and ongoing government mechanisms that guide framework and development of this interface to encourage participation.

While Lengoasa pointed to the importance of building climate service capacities on a regional scale he also emphasized that there has to be an ongoing collaboration worldwide. Partnerships are important to avoid duplications and optimize what data you have. While this idea of climate partnerships seem to be simple, it is one that is hard to implement and maintain, and it is certainly not occurring currently.

In his concluding remarks he again emphasized the system that needs to be implemented. It begins with climate services producing climate information, it proceeds to a global framework that ties together the current and future climate science capabilities, partnerships then maximize the potential of climate services, and a global user platform organizes the information and makes it accessible.

Climate Services in Practice

Regional Perspective: Climate Services in Africa

Bruce Hewitson Professor University of Capetown

Bruce Hewitson provided insight into climate services in South Africa and the global implications of the work. He emphasized that there exists a great awareness of global climate change, and that scientists are essentially "drowning in data", but these factors have not translated into large-scale action. He pointed to a cycle that is key to follow in the implementation of any action related to climate forecasting and decision-making. The process begins with data, it is translated into knowledge, awareness of the knowledge should be generated, and only then can appropriate action be taken. He alluded to scenarios where action was being taken based solely on data, and warned that such simplistic services can be dangerous and ultimately damaging.

Hewitson proceeded to discuss the multiples challenges that surround this process that ultimately leads to climate action. The first challenge is deciding what information is appropriate to act on. In other words, given the limits of predictability, and what climate information we need, how do we define what is good enough for a forecast? This clearly varies on time, spatial scales, variables, metrics, and applications, but there needs to be some standard that is articulated. If we can fulfill the perceived climate information need, then it can proceed to knowledge, otherwise it is unwise to act on it. Another difficulty that arises is how to inform a situation when there are gaps in knowledge, given that climate forecasts do not extend broadly, and are not absolute. Going along with this idea to improve and increase what information we do have, what are our best investments in knowledge production? What areas stand to benefit us the most and provide the most relevant knowledge?

Hewitson also described current issues with the proliferation of data with multiple motivations, data that is poorly articulated or confusing, and data that is hard to find or access. These difficulties underline why it is so difficult for non-scientists to get reliable and trustworthy climate data, as well as the need to establish a global framework for climate services. The data needs to be reliably and collaboratively translated to knowledge. Specifically knowledge that is written more as a "storyline" that conveys a robust message, instead of numerical conclusions that could be misinterpreted or confusing to the user.

Hewitson also echoed Lengoasa's call for local participation in climate services and analyses. He emphasized that he wants to help develop a sense of ownership in Africa. By building climate information capacities in Africa, and providing training to

build climate knowledge responsibly, it would ensure the ongoing presence of climate information in policy discussions.

Needs Perspective: International Federation of the Red Cross

Maarten Van Aalst Director Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC/RC CC)

Maarten Van Aalst gave an overview of the Red Cross perspective on the needs relating to climate services. He argues that there should be a focus on not only about what information is possible, rather what information is possible than can be readily applied to decision making. To coincide with this focus on applicable climate forecasting, the climate services community needs to transform the view that policy makers have of climate services. Policy makers must be shown the value that is associated with good quality forecasting. This needs to be communicated well, however, with the limits of forecasting defined alongside potential skill of forecasting.

To bolster trust in climate services and accuracy, Van Aalst called for a method of accountability for climate science. Prediction skill should be discussed, known, and uncertainty understood. If these facts are well articulated then a reasonable decision can be made about the use of climate information in a given situation.

Van Aalst's call for the focus on climate information that has high impact on policy making arises from the need to implement action now on current information. He recognizes that early warning and early action are key to avoiding disaster, and the discussion must start now to affect the future. If a discussion and a regard for climate services is started within the policy realm now, they will be able to gather more forecast, on different time scales, resulting in the most informed decision available.

He urged that contingency plans are not just for when disasters happen any more, they are dynamic and ongoing processes that are essential to reduce regional climate risk.

Van Aalst says that these ideas are not based on the theory of climate services, but on past experience and lessons we have collectively learned from early warming. From such experience it has been demonstrated that "good information is good enough for decision making". While a climate forecast without uncertainty is impossible, there are good practices that can be implemented that are probable. There is a need to disseminate this current climate information and get it to the areas in policy making that will effect change. This continued outreach is key to the development of action in response to early warning.

Research Perspective: International Research Institute for Climate and Society

Simon Mason Chief Climate Scientist International Research Institute for Climate and Society

Simon Mason began his presentation with an exploration of not what is the answer, but what is the question? He asserted that there is a need to unambiguously define both questions and answers, which is not currently being done in a broad and effective sense. He suggested two types of questions that are important to ask in relation to climate services. The first type of which are questions that reduce uncertainty in what is going to happen with the climate. If we are able to be more confident in our predictions then climate services can be more helpful. The second question type is questions relating to reducing the misuse of forecast information. It is difficult to make use of different predictions when conditions and probabilities are changing. There needs to be a broader more user friendly forecast that eliminated some of the confusion that occurs when interpreting climate forecasts.

Mason made an important point to distinguish climate from weather. Climate does not translate to weather and the concern here is weather, specifically, extreme weather. Ultimately, how is the future weather, not the time average climate, going to affect us? Since this is one of the major galvanizing questions behind forecasts, what do our current forecasts tell us about extreme weather events? Can we take existing forecasts and use them to tell us anything about possible changes in the extreme weather events we are concerned about? He emphasized the need to make an effort to translate seasonal forecast predictions into questions that are relevant. For example, he argued that the user question is not, will there be heavy rains, rather will there be a flood? In order to communicate climate information better there needs to exist a change in the questions being asked.

He also highlighted that there exists good practice and best practice. Speaking to the scientific community, he understood that there is an ideal scientific way to get the bet possible answer to a problem. While these methods must be continually used to further climate research he questioned if they are the way to pursue action. He argued that we are not currently at the level of bet practice in many cases, but there exists many scenarios where we have a good practice that could be implemented with success. This distinction served to echo the previous calls to action seen throughout the previous sessions.

Mason ended on a discussion of the word uncertainty. He acknowledged the difficulty that has been experienced in the communication of the meaning of uncertainty in climate forecasts. His solution was to define the different types of uncertainty that exist. Perhaps by making this distinction it would be easier for the general public to understand that it does not mean the same thing as, for example, the measurement uncertainty when using a ruler.

National perspective: United States

Thomas R. Karl Director National Climatic Data Center National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)

Thomas Karl spoke about the US national perspective on climate services. While climate services use is relatively high in the US, he still sees a large capacity for change in the data that is available and the data that is used.

He began by describing the break out of data users, the large data users are in the educational community, 12% are in government, 5% of the users are the "dot-coms" (start up commercial companies), 30% represents international requests. He says that there is a great potential for this to change as climate services step more out of academia and into the mainstream business and government applications. Karl also pointed to the changing nature of the data. Looking at the role that dynamical models currently play in prediction, specifically relating to global climate change, he postulates that the amount of climate data will increase quickly. In very little time the data will be dominated by projections from various models, encouraged by the advent of super computers.

Karl touched briefly on the US Global Change Research Program. He described it as a process, with four major components. These components include, advancing science, informing decision, sustainability assessment, and communication education. Climate services have an integral role in the informing decision aspect of the process. This process served to underline the importance of climate services in global change action. He also mentioned the Global Change information system, which is aimed to make data and information more transparent, and more easily understood. He emphasized that need to for the ability to convey uncertainty and its meaning, as well as the value of the data being provided. He emphasized that is these programs are not functioning well, and the communication between policy makers and scientists breaks down, climate information becomes very poor, very quickly.

Karl tied together the various programs he mentioned in his presentation by highlighting that they effect society. He cited an example of the construction industry, and the cost they put into certain types of insulation, and techniques to make homes more energy efficient. Karl argued that with climate services, and the knowledge of how climate will be changing regionally, construction companies could change the insulation or depths of foundation to ultimately save money for the company and the homeowner. Will improved skill in more areas more opportunities such as this will arrive.

National Perspective: United Kingdom

Chris Hewitt Head of Climate Services UK Met Office

This talk addressed the following four questions:

- 1. Why have climate services?
- 2. What is a climate service?
- 3. What kinds of activities are going on in the UK?
- 4. What are some examples of climate services?

1. Why have climate services?

Climate services supporting decision making; the mitigation of climate impacts is of particular importance. Climate service customers include industry, colleagues, and government. Recent demand has focused on the near-time scales (seasonal and years) and smaller spatial scales (regional and local). We are exposed to weather, not necessarily climate. Impacts of hazardous weather are particularly important. There is a rapidly growing demand for the potential impacts of weather events. There is an on-going risk management process and a need to reformat data to cater it to user needs.

2. What is a climate service?

A climate service involve an end-to-end program:

Observations & Models \leftrightarrow Products and Services Stakeholders and customers \leftrightarrow basic R&D \leftrightarrow IT \leftrightarrow applied R&D \leftrightarrow Partners

National weather services should expand to include a national climate services. We need to work with other countries and not for other countries in order to develop long-lasting partnerships.

3. What kinds of activities are going on in the UK?

The UK Met Office has created a Joint Weather and Climate Research Partnerships (JWCRP) to bring the UK community together. This has taken a long time to develop but is helping to engage education, industry, government and other sectors within the UK. This group engages on issues that are global, regional, national, local.

The UK Met Office has activities to move from uncertainty to probabilities (likelihoods). In 2000, GCMs provided projections for national UK projects to inform decision makers (didn't consider uncertainties and emission scenarios). In 2009 they used a large ensemble to take into account the uncertainties so they could then consider probabilities. This was more helpful for decision makers to understand the

likelihood of specific outcomes and their potential effects (used 30 year periods throughout the $21^{\rm st}$ century). This was used for the UK climate impacts program. The results were made available to the community through the UKCIP. These results were then used extensively within the UK risk assessment. Helped to identify particularly vulnerable parts of society. The Climate Change Act was developed in the UK in 2008 to determine the context of a risk assessment. They are currently looking at the findings of the risk assessment and it will be released to the public at the beginning of next year.

5. What are some examples of climate services?

Example 1: Core Climate Service. The UK Met Office coordinates with DECC and DEFRA to help inform policies.

Example 2: Thames Estuary 2100 Project. The aim is to provide advice for a flood risk management plan (specifically from storm surges). A partnership developed wave modeling and river flows and then determined the adaptability of the local area with respect to storms and sea level rise. The conclusion was that under extreme scenarios that the barrier would protect the area. Although following this conclusion it was realized that there was too much uncertainty involved and it was decided that more research needed to be done in order to address the uncertainties and assess in more detail the actual viability of the barrier in future scenarios of climate change.

Example 3: River Nile. The project examines river flow into High Aswan Dam.

Example 4: Global Risk Assessment. In collaboration with other climate scientists, the group received reports, twitter feeds, newsletters, updates about years to decadal predictions.

Example 5: DFID-UKMO. This example was driven by users. They spent a lot of time in Africa determining the needs on the ground and building capacity of scientists within Africa so there will be improved services within the countries.

The key focus of UK Met Office moving forward

Moving forward, the key focus will be to produce higher resolution forecasts to capture processes better on spatial scales that are relevant to the users, potentially using downscaling to do this. From this UK Met will look at probability predictions in order to determine applications for the data. They will deliver added value from the data that is already available. They are also starting to think about the needs of the GFCS and how they can make this program more effective and applicable.

Climate Services Case Study: NIDIS

Roger Pulwarty Chief, Climate and Societal Interactions Division NOAA

The goal of climate services is to make sure that information is informing adaptation. This involves an iterative process of learning and redesign. Climate services must also address the question of whether or not short-term decisions are enabling or restricting long-term risk. Different risks are apparent when you look at different scales.

For example, a drought in the Colorado Basin from 2000-2004 brought about the realization that we needed more of a reactive entity to facilitate climate risk management.

This led NOAA to examine a series of questions, specifically:

- 1. What are the windows of opportunity (i.e., what can we do)?
- 2. How is leadership at different level involved?
- 3. What sorts of collaboration between research and management are needed?
- 4. What kind of pressure for collaboration already exists?

The National Integrated Drought Information System (NIDIS) is a regional entity made up of working groups that feed into each other. These groups are divided up as components of an early warning system: public awareness/education, monitoring and forecasting, research and application. The groups then inform local entities who direct actions.

In order to inform action, they assess and match up the scale of the working group and then the scale of the informing agency that can implement the suggested actions. They then created a website to address specific questions that most directly affect people.

An example is drawn from the Colorado Basin, where collaboration to create a drought mitigation and response plan based on research outlooks.

The National Drought Policy Commission was established under the National Drought Policy Act of 1998 to ensure collaboration between different government agencies on drought-related issues. The Commission issued a groundbreaking report, *Preparing for Drought in the 21st Century*, in 2000. Following the Commission's recommendations, the National Integrated Drought Information System (NIDIS) was envisioned in a Western Governors' Association Report in 2004.

NIDIS involves weekly warning webinars in order to identify risk indicators. These identify critical thresholds in order to be able to identify "risk" in an appropriate

amount of lead time. The designers of NIDIS have made sure to focus on the vulnerabilities and answering questions that are helpful in addressing the risk.

At present, NIDIS is addressing a number of issues. First, there is a need for more locally based researchers to link local knowledge with the research. Other concerns are who provides the standards, who provides the coordination, who provides the funding, and how the local community is engaged.

Breakout sessions

The ICCS included two separate breakout sessions, in which participant split into three groups based on topics of discussion. Breakout groups were facilitated by a chair and were intended to be a forum for active engagement.

Elements of Successful Climate Services

The first breakout session focused on elements of successful climate services. During this session, participants engaged in discussion on:

- 1. **Identifying the Demand for Climate Services** (addressing issues of needs, evaluation, limitations, etc.); *chaired by John Furlow, USAID*
- 2. **Creating, Accessing and Using Data** (addressing issues of socioeconomic, environmental, forecasting, etc); *chaired by Carlo Scaramella, WFP*
- 3. **Facilitating Systematic Knowledge Exchange** (focusing on issues relating to mechanisms, capacity building, education, etc.); *chaired by Daniela Jacob, CSC*

Identifying the Demand for Climate Services

The breakout session was focused on identifying actionable priorities and ideas. The following question was used to leadoff the conversation: "Who is your target audience for climate services? And, how do identify them?"

Some of the groups that were identified as a target audience included sector specific organizations (e.g. forestry and agriculture), policy makers, decision makers, private sector institutions, the financial services industry, national/local governments, regional governments, the scientific community, the media and the general public. The broad range of target audiences listed shows the variety of institutions represented at ICCS and the wide breadth of demand for climate services. The breakout session participants also recognized that the user community is continuously changing and growing, which presents new opportunities.

In addition, it was highlighted that almost all the institutions represented in the room were both providers and consumers of climate information. The analogy of a climate service chain was used to show that providers, translators and users of climate services all function at different scales and interact with each other.

The next question that was addressed was "How can we understand and address consumer needs?" An example was given from the Senegalese meteorological

department's work with agriculture extension offices in Senegal. The Ag extension offices provided a link between the project and farmer focus groups, and set up inperson discussions. Direct discussions with the farmers helped identify the importance of the onset of the rainy season in Senegal, which allowed scientist to better target farmer vulnerabilities. In this case, the scientists identified a particular pilot region and a local agriculture extension office helped select farmers for group discussion. It was especially important to make sure that women were well represented.

The breakout group agreed that this pilot project served as a "good enough practice." It showed that it is often important to collaborate with groups that already have established networks and that it is necessary to have a dialogue with users to identify needs. However, this approach would not be appropriate at a larger scale. Climate services provide a challenge of both "personalizing" services and achieving scale. It was acknowledged that for service provisions it could be useful to use success cases as guidelines for others.

Along these lines, another good practice example was shared, this time from the financial sector. The example showed how a survey was performed to categorize the climate information demands of financial service providers. However, few of this consumer community could identify what climate needs they had or would have in the future. As a next step, it was suggested that the climate information users organize themselves to better be able to answer the survey questions. This example shows how the responsibility for identifying user needs can also be given to those on the demand side.

The breakout group identified that communication between climate information providers and consumers is not the sole responsibility of one party, but rather should be an iterative, two-way process. It is important to know the decision makers' needs, as well as their timeline for decision making. It was suggested that we need mechanisms to enable consumers to shape the services they need and processes/structures to enable community ownership of and trust in climate services. In addition, the group thought that it would be useful to better identify the role of the research and scientific community in climate services.

The participants also discussed that climate services should be tailored to best meet users needs and better enable strategic decision making. It was suggested that existing tools could serve as a starting point for looking at: What decision support tools have worked well and why? What are the challenges? What are the gaps in tools and how can they be addressed?

The participants' suggestions for next steps are grouped into six main categories:

1. Sustaining conversation between consumers and providers of climate information: The breakout group discussed mechanisms for eliciting feedback from the user community, creating an ongoing open dialogue

- between producers and consumers, and refining climate services to better meet user needs. In addition, it was suggested that good practices on user/provider interactions could serve as learning opportunities.
- 2. Enhancing decision support mechanisms: Many decision support mechanisms already exist, in a variety of sectors, and this can serve as a starting point for assessing what types of tools are most useful and where challenges exist. It is also important to recognize that climate is one factor in complex decisions.
- 3. Sharing knowledge and experience: We can learn from each others' experiences and "good enough practices", as well as the identification of non-success stories Some useful guiding questions are: What types of partnerships are valuable? How has information successfully been communicated to users? How have users been engaged in product development?
- 4. *Mapping our roles*: The participants acknowledged the need to identify a "chain" in climate services that could help us learn from each other, share experiences and identify low hanging fruit. This typology could catalogue decisions being made, map provider strengths and consumer needs, and address questions such as, "Who are we?" and "Who do we target?". The mechanism could help us better understand our roles and responsibilities, identify potential opportunities, and connect to users and funders in the future. It is important that this serve as a tool to identify pathways for cooperation.
- 5. Creating avenues for investment: The group recognized that not only was it important to identify short-term goals, but it is also vital to discuss what could be accomplished with effort of a higher order of magnitude. There is a need to articulate a vision that encourages and inspires investment. It is also important to identify and interact with users who become champions for investment.
- 6. Linking to other processes: With a focus on demand issues, it will be useful to link to other process (e.g. GFCS, Rio +20). This connection can serve as a two way street, with the ICCS helping to inform other processes, while also learning from them. It will also be valuable to consider potential funding options when creating and sustaining these connections.

Creating, Accessing and Using Data

This group explored four main questions. Specifically:

1. What kinds of data are necessary for establishing viable climate services? What is good enough info?

The physical climate system is well understood although there are gaps in translating the raw data into viable climate services. Therefore what is important here is not discussing the climate variables and parameters but more so highlighting limitations in the application of the data. Impact Assessments- understanding impact related data that is currently available. It is vital that we understand the end use of the data before we can determine which parameters to use to produce the data/predictions/applications.

As you get closer to the user you need higher resolution data. Since error tends to increase as you decrease the spatial application of climate data, error and uncertainties need to be identified and later addressed before climate services can be integrated into decision making. You cannot simply define an over arching rule for classifying data as "good enough". Standards and the quality of data will need to be assessed at a contextual level. (We must consider the end users perspective and needs).

2. What can be done to enhance the ability to downscale and/or foster regional analysis?

The group decided they needed to agree on the fundamentals before we think about downscaling. Establish the scientific basis. (Scientific community must either accept or address the limited understanding of regional dynamics). They decided to take a look at the existing datasets, the statistical and dynamical downscaling approaches and the varying levels of confidence before we can speak to this decision of use.

Questions related to downscaling included how to improve the models or use the existing data and downscale. The group also discussed needs at different levels and how to pursue an end-to-end approach. It is important to consider all of the links in the chain of knowledge, keeping in mind that there is utility for end users to use information at various points in the chain of knowledge depending on the application.

The group also discussed how to assess the qualitative aspects of uncertainty. We should perform diagnostics of GCM vs. current day observations to test their validity before any kind of downscaling is considered. Shorter timescales is where the bigger challenge is and this is where the policy makers and end users are lacking confidence. Real time decision-making needs to be incorporated with climate data but first we must identify the limits of the data.

3. How to operate in data scarce environments – how do you set standards in different contexts/environments?

Data scare environments tend to also be the poorest and most disaster prone. There is a need for standard of transparency in the climate services implemented in these areas since the setting of desperation can sometimes lead to the implementation of

whatever is available rather than the best possible solution (ex. can't just use a model because there is no baseline data). One possible solution is to collect as much data as possible and then look at what models you can apply and assimilate with remote sensing data. For example in Ethiopia a group has coupled sporadic metrological station observations for rainfall and temperature with satellite data to fill in gaps. After realizing the value of this Ethiopia example the group realized the critical need for a forum to share experiences. There is a tremendous potential for value added through sharing experiences of trial and error.

4. What priority investments are necessary in the immediate (globally, locally)?

Rather than continuing to "reinvent the wheel" the group has articulated a desire to recycle, refine and reuse global data sets that are already available rather than investing in new research projects. There is an incredible investment potential in pulling information out of underexploited historical datasets. In order to see where we are going into the future we need to establish a baseline of where we are. We should think about this as a set of building blocks and concentrate on a strong foundation before we get ahead of ourselves, this includes focusing on improving data assimilation techniques and model techniques while continuing to develop tools and techniques (not simply more data).

5. Should climate data be freely accessible?

When asked if climate data should be free and accessible the majority of the group agreed that it should. Experience has shown that when climate data is available for free it is consequentially accessed by 10x more users. According to this group, free and accessible means data gets used, otherwise it hardly gets accessed by people other than the generators of the data themselves (money is prohibitive). Another positive effect is that having it publically available encourages and enables additional research.

The only concern that surfaced relative to freely accessed data was the potential misuse or misrepresentation of data. There are inherently different uses and caveats that come along with model outputs vs. observational data vs. gridded/assimilated data. If data is used without a full understanding of its source and limits it could potentially be harmful to the credibility of the science community as a whole. A suggested solution to these concerns is including a disclaimer when accessing the data.

Facilitating Knowledge Exchange

The goal of knowledge exchange is to communicate between providers of climate data and users; there should be a flow/dialogue of information between these two actors, not a one-way communication.

The breakout session addressed the following questions:

- What is a knowledge management system?
- What is knowledge?
- Is management the best word/philosophy?

What is involved in knowledge management? There are three levels of knowledge management: structure (how the info is organization); management (how we provide guidance to user); and how, through management process, the management system creates new demand for knowledge. Internally to the knowledge management community, it is important to share lessons learned and methodology internal to the climate service community. Concrete suggestion: conduct a survey of existing knowledge management systems, how do they work, are they applicable to this project?

How are we defining knowledge? There was a discussion of information vs. knowledge. David Grimes posited that information is different from knowledge: knowledge is information that has been fused that with other things the user knows, his worldview, history, etc. Knowledge is info that we need to survive (and prosper), and the managers job is to make that information discoverable. The other main discussion was whether the system should be structured around a top-down approach (take the data/information already available and structure it in an appealing way) or bottom up (identify needs of policy makers and then build data/information around that). The general consensus was that both are needed.

What are potential knowledge products? Demand perspective is very broad; could get buried with trying to sort out who needs what. In terms of addressing all stakeholders' needs, a more practical approach is focusing on capacity building so that the communities are able to answer the questions for themselves (ex. Helping farmers to use climate information more sensibly to enhance their productivity; key aspect is to help them create the products they want).

Potential Models for knowledge management systems include:

- NCAR's system: designed for specialists and then re-developed for a broader community through an iterative process.
- IRI's project with the Red Cross: a very specific group of stakeholders came with clearly defined needs/objectives, but the project still has broader

- transferability.
- The CSC Climate Navigator: this is basically a portal to provide users with info and contacts. We could have an international website where we highlight some problems that occur in hotspot regions, provide data about those regions and list of people who are involved with studying them, so customer can contact them.

Enabling Successful Climate Services

The second breakout session focused on enabling successful climate services. This session included discussion surrounding the following breakout topics:

- 1. **Engaging the Scientific Community** (addressing issues of interdisciplinary, cooperation, collaboration, etc.); *chaired by Sylvie Joussaume, Paris Consortium on Climate-Environment-Society*
- Designing Policies and Institutional Partnerships (addressing issues relating to the influence of science on policy makers and their uses, etc); chaired by Shiv Someshwar, Columbia University
- 3. **Establishing Innovative Funding Mechanisms** (addressing issues relating to business models, public support, private funding, adaptation funding, etc); *chaired by Kanta Kumari Rigaud, World Bank*

Engaging the Scientific Community

This breakout session addressed three questions:

- 1. What is the best way to involve the research community in climate services?
- 2. What is the best way to encourage interdisciplinary and foster cooperation across disciplines?
- 3. What is the best way to define a research agenda and set priorities for a global framework of climate services?

The first issue addressed by the group was how to best involve the research community in climate services. The group agreed that climate services must be closely tied to research in order to maintain credibility. To create that link, climate services must have a means to entrain research and address a number of demand-oriented topics. An underappreciated link in this chain is the transition between pure science and a usable project; this often requires more work and money than people initially suspect. The group also found that the evaluation system in universities should recognize the value of demand-oriented research that goes beyond publication. Furthermore, the scientific community must also recognize that is not only a knowledge-provider but a key user of knowledge. Sufficient funding is essential in order to address these issues.

The second issue addressed by the group was how to encourage interdisciplinary and foster cooperation across disciplines. The group found that a need for integrated information that reaches across diverse disciplines. One way to encourage this is to support problem-driven research that seeks to solve a real-world issue. The group also found a need for more interdisciplinary education at all levels, especially master's and PhD programs. A very difficult

issue with interdisciplinary collaboration is technical jargon and the inability for specialists to be receptive to the voices of specialists outside their field of study, or even understand their vocabulary.

The third and final issue addressed by this group was how to define a research agenda and set priorities for a global framework of climate services. The group found that it is essential to define the research agenda in terms of solving real-world problems, using science as a means to an end rather than the end itself. The research agenda must span all disciplines – the natural sciences, social sciences, private and public sectors, journalists, and users of climate service information. The group concluded with the message that the whole of climate services is necessarily user-driven. Researchers must realize their potential as not only academic investigators but real-world problem-solvers, and work together with specialists outside of their discipline to achieve a useable result.

Designing Policies and Institutional Partnerships

This breakout session discussed issues surrounding climate services policies, institutions, and partnerships, related but each distinct. The group considered national, regional, and international scales of servicing, and took into account the global institutions with strong processes already in place. Group members offered recommendations for effective policies and partnerships, and the session concluded with an identification of key roles for ICCS moving forward.

Key policy questions were considered:

- What is the approach for fostering a system that starts with science but interfaces with multiple users and takes into account their needs, values and priorities?
- How do we build on existing institutions?
- What kind of policy capacity building related to regional institutions and countries should be considered as part of a climate service delivery system?
- Given that the process of defining policies, particularly at a national level, can be very long, what can be done in between? How do you begin to frame the right kind of policies?
- What is an effective approach for engaging the relevant policy community?
 - o Who initiates?
 - Good practices in developing policy dialogue in promoting wider development of climate services?

Recommended Practices:

Multiple group members expressed the importance of demonstrating the value of climate information to policymakers, and recommending the creation of projects that demonstrate its benefit, thus building trust in the scientific community and

enabling policymaking negotiations to move a step forward. It was noted that looking at specific sectors is an effective way to start identifying needs and capability to meet them. Partnerships can be built out from that, with demand the primary determination. Governments and agencies within a country inform the aspects of climate services that you can be engaged with.

Role of ICCS:

Group members then turned to discussion of the role of ICCS in the context of the policy debate around climate services. Major questions included how to support a vision of creating an enabling environment for climate services, and how to support and empower regional actors. The goal is to enable policy and embed knowledge into existing institutional systems without setting up a new institutional universe. Standards setting for those who are able to address context-specific issues in different contexts was a major theme. Bringing together case studies on regional or sectoral issues and sharing best practices at national, international, and subnational scales was also mentioned.

Possible regional/national/subnational case studies:

- ACMAD is a prototype framework for regional climate services. How well in the policy and institutional sense is it equipped to be a regional component of the global framework for climate services?
- The Victorian government in Australia has worked to better connect with stakeholders. Set up a center for climate change adaptation research; gave grants to universities to support development projects to provide info useful to various portfolio sectors. Operates as a clearinghouse. Links were built to outside expert groups. Facilitates an interface between researchers and government managers; establishing strong links between researchers and policymakers. The model is not yet proven, but something to watch.
- In Africa, Regional Economic Communities develop strategy and policy; issue of climate has become more important. To be able to provide the response to the RECs, have to have partnerships with developed countries. At the national level: regional entities provide climate information for national weather services to help them produce climate services. Also a place to have a dialogue to share strengths and weaknesses. Demand established with RECs; regional entity is empowered to mediate the relationship between national services and international organizations.
- Brazil: climate change legislatures at the state level. Hired scientists from the community to help the local government. Helped promote writing of legislation.

Concrete goals for ICCS:

Concrete goals for ICCS moving forward were identified. There was consensus that Rio+20 is an excellent opportunity to showcase the role of ICCS. ICCS could assemble cases that challenge the world body for action and make a case for the necessity of ICCS at national/international levels. The possibility of focusing on low capacity countries was raised. A demonstration project of how resource requirements can be mobilized to demonstrate the enhancement of capabilities in these critical countries, and associated with the actual value of climate services in enabling economic productivity and/or social dimensions of the country itself, was recommended. The value of investments in national climate services capability is not necessarily clear to policymakers yet; targeted initiatives that demonstrate the value will help with the political organization. There is a very strong correlation with the necessary investments in individual countries and the international community's ability to share resources and knowledge. The possibility of producing a first edition of guidelines on establishing national climate services was raised, although questions of its utility given diversity of national policy systems and arrangements were also brought up. A more productive way of moving that idea forward might be to focus regionally and/or on specific human development oriented aspects.

Overall, there was consensus that the demonstration of collective capacity by focusing on a highly vulnerable region and how capabilities there can be enhanced through coordination, collaboration, and knowledge sharing would be a productive goal for ICCS in anticipation of Rio+20.

Next challenges for ICCS:

- Demonstration of impact of climate services on economic productivity can enable developing partnerships with people who work on economic growth. Develop metrics that include climate. Embed info in finance and planning agencies.
- There are significant economic barriers in developing countries to accessing markets in the West. Link climate info with agricultural productivity, and national governments in these countries will pay attention. Examining twin impacts of globalization and climate risks. Linkages between countries.
- The landscape is incredibly different today. Institutions like IRI have reframed how we talk about the climate challenge. Tremendous opportunity at Rio+20 to showcase what has been accomplished since 1992, and set up the next generation of challenges for this community and for society in learning how to use this climate information. Individual case studies may not be high level enough to establish the broad impact of this community and its accomplishments.
- Targeted initiative to coordinate capabilities for the most vulnerable countries

- Story of West African floods in 2008: the Red Cross put out an international appeal for some funds to take advance action before the rainy season; didn't raise any money. The basic problem is that essentially no country has a policy for providing funding for disaster relief before the disaster actually occurs. We could propose that countries start considering establishing a fund, perhaps targeted primarily for benefit of the LDCs, that would allow advance preparedness measures to be taken on seasonal timescales—a risk transfer mechanism that includes funding, sharing of knowledge.
- Emphasize the capacity to respond. From this perspective, it is not just the LDCs that are most vulnerable. Grand challenges in Rio 1992: brought policy & science communities together in framing those documents. Need a mechanism that connects with and actively engages the policy dimension. Not socioeconomic science, but actually engaging the policy component so that they can start articulating the needs in their countries.
- Rather than this community identifying the most vulnerable, establish communication with organizations that are in the position to respond and can determine how information is being used and what is needed. Enable those that work with the most vulnerable to come to the Met community.

Establishing Innovative Funding Mechanisms

This breakout session explored current business models in climate services. These include:

- engaging the private sector
- public sector funding
- > public-private partnerships

The group believed that private sector engagement was useful, but time consuming and that the private sector would not serve many of the most vulnerable. The group also mentioned that businesses want public data to make private sector products.

Public sector funding may be more applicable at smaller scales, where as public sector funding is more applicable at larger scales. In addition, there should be a link between the magnitude of the funding and the magnitude of the climate service, although give the nature of climate services as a global good in some cases, there are limits to this integration.

In terms of partnerships, there are examples in which investment banks help fund private sector (i.e.: European Investment Bank).

Moving forward, the group should work together to develop climate service outlines with private/public sector, and to identify successful business models for public goods (particularly by showing that products are valuable and necessary). This will

allow the group to outline the economic benefits of adaptation. A Stern-like report for adaptation may be in order.

Climate Services Partnership Working Group Discussions

Based on discussions during the conference, participants grouped into five working groups to discuss actions that a voluntary alliance could engage in over the next 14 months. These groups, and a brief treatment of their discussion, is included below.

Knowledge Capture

Steve Zebiak introduced the working group session focusing on managing knowledge amongst the Climate Service Partnership (CSP) and the larger community. He stated that, collectively we have a lot of knowledge, but currently we do not have a way to share this knowledge or benefit from what each other is doing. A knowledge sharing process based in the CSP collaborative effort could help us to better learn from one another. Steve then highlighted the need for the creation and development of a mechanism to facilitate how information is extracted, processed and synthesized. He stated that it will be important for this working group to further discuss what type of knowledge capture mechanism would best suite the CSP and what information should be highlighted (e.g. Who is involved in activities? What tools are being developed? How are users engaged?).

Zebiak then put forward a contribution from the International Research Institute for Climate and Society. He suggested, that if accepted by participants the IRI would like to offer to facilitate the 1st year of activities surrounding knowledge exchange. This would involve providing staff support, coordinating the development of a knowledge management system and working with the CSP to provide content. Steve emphasized that this is a group process and will rely on collaboration with the Partnership and working group.

This potential contribution stimulated further discussion on what a knowledge management system should entail. The group discussed that the knowledge management/capture system could be a portal, Web site, database, etc. The use of social media was also mentioned.

Participants agreed that a good first step in developing this mechanism would be to look at what types of systems and tools already exist. Some important questions to answer are: What already exists? How does it work? What audience does it target? What information does it share? What are the gaps? It is important to keep in mind that there are many knowledge management systems that are not well utilized or developed, and these can serve as learning opportunities. It is also critical to consider that many of the members of the partnership already have portals. The

knowledge management system should not add redundancy, but rather build on what already exists. The working group highlighted the need to look into the European Environmental Agency's Climate Change Clearinghouse project, which is a potentially similar effort.

The working group came to the consensus that many of the organizations present were interested in contributing, but not if the financial and time costs are too significant. This highlighted the need for a mechanism that is valuable, yet not too taxing on partners. Participants reiterated that there would need to be a balance between having a useful system and one that is easy to contribute towards. A couple of suggestions were put forth in order to increase ease of participation. One recommendation was to provide a clear form for contributors. Another idea was that a small team of people could help organizations contribute to the knowledge system.

The application of the system was then discussed. It was suggested that the Partnership should establish an inventory of existing climate services, identifying some interesting activities and listing the persons/groups involved. This inventory should provide information on CSP partners and other institutions relevant to climate services. The system should also be searchable by topic and region. Another recommendation was that the system should provide information on institutional structures and business models. Using the analogy of a climate service chain, participants thought it valuable for the system to highlight how providers, translators and users of climate services all function at different scales and interact with each other. An analysis of these structures could help better define what we are doing as a partnership, if we are addressing climate services and how we can better relate to each other. The working group also agreed that case studies would serve as a good tool for sharing experiences, learning from each other and identifying effective practices.

The question was then posed, "Should case studies only highlight the work of partners or should other projects be considered? What about projects that are outside of our mandate to commit?" The group decided that the knowledge sharing system should include a diversity of partners, be open to new partners and collaborate beyond the partnership. The mechanism needs structure, but also should be positively chaotic and informal. It was also mentioned that case studies might be outdated within a year or two, and a process would be needed to avoid outdated and irrelevant material.

An analytic framework, or systematic approach to assessing case studies was then discussed. One participant pointed out that full evaluations are quite costly and it is difficult to control for biases. A simpler first step is to create an inventory of what currently exists, document and describe case studies, and systematically review and identify states of evidence for each sector.

The working group identified the need to have a standard evaluation process so that the information could be compared across case studies and main messages could more easily be distilled. The method of creating a checklist of questions was proposed (e.g. what types of information are used? How is information communicated to users?) The group emphasized the value of identifying the basic elements of each case study that can most easily be adapted to work in different circumstances. The working group also acknowledged the need for quality control, and a system to verify that case studies are from a trusted source.

The working group was then asked, "Why would an organization want to participate in the CSP and contribute to the knowledge management system?"

The group agreed that both established and emerging climate service institutions, as well as developed and developing country participants would find the CSP and this system beneficial. The Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre felt that contribution to the knowledge management system was valuable because it helped them better document their work. In the past, they have documented case studies through the use of young professionals who interact directly with projects to capture information. This also helps to provide a broader dialogue on the issue, as a third party is involved. Other participants mentioned that such a knowledge sharing system would help them learn from other countries and institutions, while providing a sense for the types of activities in a region. It was also suggested that such a system could help connect users with local contacts for projects, sector specific activities and members of the scientific community.

Next some concrete next steps and contributions were proposed:

- 1. IRI reiterated that it would facilitate the establishment of a knowledge exchange system, with collaboration from the working group and the CSP.
- 2. Develop collaborative fact sheets and risk maps, pertaining to present and future climate information and potential impact, for different regions and sectors. Members of the CSP could work together to provide consistent and applied information; currently there is a lot of redundant and contrasting information that exists and this is confusing to users. However, some issues were raised regarding this project: Would these fact sheets be supported by the CSP? It may be difficult to draw a consensus on the information distributed and not all organizations may be able to support the effort. The Climate Service Center, Germany, has offered to lead this process.
- 3. Develop a collection of case studies and other pilot projects, which are quality controlled and reviewed through an analytic framework in order to draw out lessons learnt. The Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre proposed to lead the development of disaster risk management case studies that could offer regional or crosscutting perspectives. It was also highlighted that case studies from the food security sector would be particularly useful, however no lead institution came forth.

Identifying User Needs

The identifying user needs breakout group addressed the following questions:

- Who are the clients and what climate services are provided to them?
- Who does your institution rely on for climate information?
- What climate service does your institution use, need, or want?

The group considered *networks* and *information* chains. It is important to recognize that different organizations have different needs and services that they therefore have different opportunities and challenges. It is also important to consider the users and the mechanisms that they use to communicate back up through the chain. It is important to acknowledge the *two-way nature* of climate services. Our goal should be get past the supply/demand dichotomy and realize that most of the organizations/institutions present at ICCS are both suppliers and users of climate information at different scales. *Case studies* are valuable tools for ICCS. They allow us to understand who is using information, how they are using it, and what information ultimately gets fed back to the provider. They also shed light on what does and does not work and illustrates which practices from the private sector can be transferred to our climate services arena.

In the next 12 months the group can do a survey that asks within our networks:

- Who are you a client of for climate information and services?
- Who are your clients? (Or categories of clients, for bigger institutions like NOAA).
- What services do I want?
- What services can I provide?

Answers to these questions will enable us to map the network and identify a typology of focus areas and users. With this information we can minimize duplication and see where groups fit. No climate service provider can go from end to end, bringing climate science all they way down to the community. We need to figure out where we fit, who's working at what level and where the gaps remain. Some groups may be serving similar clients, but with different information and we'll need to investigate why. We will be able to see how from global to regional to national to local levels different users will need different types of information.

We might also ask:

- How do the users of the information I provide give me feedback on how it works for them?
- Where can we attribute successful use of climate services?
- Where should we be capturing lessons learned?
- How can better tailor products and services to meet user needs?

We also would like to bring a couple of case studies to Rio +20 on good practices and lessons learned in identifying and catering to user needs:

- One case study from the Regional Committee for Hydraulic Resources (CRRH) about how you channel information to one user group without damaging another. And how information can pass through networks in a responsible manner, since climate information is not inherently 'do no harm.'
- One from the Red Cross on a methodology of identifying user needs through climate-smart versions of community Vulnerability Capacity Assessments.
- Good practices from the private sector that might be transferrable.
- Would like to open case study opportunities to others.

Currently climate information is supply driven. We need to flip that so it is demand driven. We need to be more proactive to ensure we are getting the right inputs into the research agenda. An additional strategy to achieve this could be through structured learning dialogues around climate services between information providers and users at global, regional, national and community levels -what information can we generate and how can we use it?

Good Practices in the Use of Climate Information

The discussion of "good practices" touched on both *policy engagement and technical issues* (i.e., downscaling, projections). To establish good practices, we must *identify the gaps* between the research community and the climate services users. We must also identify where more work can be done in seasonal forecasting on the international strategic scale.

Three specific activities are proposed:

- 1) A simple questionnaire can be sent out to ICCS attendees along with a summary document. Attendees will be asked to identify what links their institution's climate services activity with climate research.
- 2) In depth case studies can be conducted in order to identify what works well and what can be done differently in the future, especially in the context of emerging information.
- 3) Workshops on disaster risk reduction can be conducted.

The *Red Cross* explained that partnerships never take off immediately. They require the development of trust on behalf of the local community. The Red Cross then discussed its *partnership with IRI* (as an example of good practice) and presented various aspects of said partnership that have made it a success thus far: face-to-face meetings, shared office space (to ensure that products are both applicable and appropriate), an internship program (which serves to bridge various organizations), joint advocacy, documented experience, and tailored projects, which are supported through a help desk (that is, an international email system that responds to questions regarding products and weather related issues within 24 hours).

The World Food Programme also contributed its perspective toward climate services. It is both a user and provider of climate services: because climate is so relevant in determining food insecurity, WFP is particularly reliant on projections. They also acknowledged the importance of partnerships, and specifically sited that they work with other NGOs in the field. They are very interested in establishing an interface between the scientific community and humanitarian actors.

Economic Valuation of Climate Services

Framing is critical when attempting to determine the value of a climate service. Because climate services encompass a vast range of actions it is important to first determine the appropriate framing in order to assign them monetary value.

For example, some climate services are characterized by their **time scale** – historical, current data, forecast, model projections; because there are different prediction products on different time scales, you would need to consider different financial value models to evaluate them. Other climate services are defined by the **sector** in which they are serving, for example climate services catered to agriculture, health, or water. Lastly you can characterize climate services by the **benefits** they produce. For example, some climate services lead to increased crop yields, decease lives lost in extreme weather events, decrease infrastructural damages and inform investors.

Given the dynamic range of framing techniques, how do we give a value to the multitude of climate services on a single scale? What could this partnership eventually produce of value to help inform the economic evaluation of climate services and policy development?

One approach: start from the service/use (end point) of the data in order to determine what climate data service will be appropriate to address which issue. In order to establish value we need to define the user's needs.

Alternative approach: allow the users to see what climate services are available so they can determine which data would be most applicable. In order to begin this process need to develop a climate services vs. sectors matrix.

Things to consider. In order to determine the metrics of different climate services, you must consider the end user benefits to assign them a value. When thinking about the benefits of climate services it is important to keep in mind that when applying this data, climate intrinsically translates as weather. We must determine how to define "economic value" in terms of benefits vs. avoided damages. There are tools available to determine the value of mitigating loss. EX. Hurricane damage-property damage vs. storm size (GIS tool for the Gulf of Mexico).

We should also consider the incremental benefits of developing these services for example jobs created along the way. Benefits of some climate services don't always go to the sector or region that invests in them. Ex. US brining down carbon profile-other countries would benefit. Population demographics and land use change complicate climate change evaluation. Early warning system: uses ongoing climate services to inform how it works – how do you value a 3-month forecast without looking at how it is used? Ex. How many crops are saved?

There are evaluations already done but they focus mostly on specific case studies and cannot be generalized. Central Asia case study has come to the conclusion that an additional dollar spent on climate services had a payback ratio between 1:4 and 1:50.

Challenges. There will potentially be an issue in attributing/differentiating climate vs. meteorological products. There are also papers about coral bleaching and the future effects on coral reefs and breeding grounds. But how do we evaluate the ocean. Climate services resources compete with other development projects and in some cases are integral parts of development projects although often times they are not identified as "climate services" (ex. Agriculture projects, water management project)

Suggested actions:

- 1. Pick out key services and user groups and produce case studies to quantify their value by characterizing the benefits identified in these case studies. The actual amounts are not as important as much as the benefits identified. We can currently show what the benefits are for some climate services in developed countries (flooding, hurricanes) t. From these we know that adaptive capacity affects the value of climate services. Ex. The effects of earthquakes on Chile vs. Haiti. (Even though earthquakes are not climatic)
- 2. Look at how many times people look at data over a month- economic value determine by human contact. This is meteorological.
- 3. Demonstrate robust features that give a rough estimate of the value (pragmatic approach) and give a range for informing decision makers
- 4. Possible pass off this study to another organization (possibly funder, financial, monetary) to create process or protocols.
- 5. Review conclusions from the up and coming "Earth Summit" conference where end users from multiple sectors (academia, energy, agriculture) will explain how climate services have furthered their mission.

In conclusion the group has decided to work towards developing a sector (and inherently temporal) vs. climate service matrix to begin the process of first organizing and later evaluating the metric value of different climate services. The group plans to meet as a working group within coming conferences over the next year. Possible forums for hosting this working group are the EGU, AMS and The Earth Summit.

Linking to the GFCS and Other Processes

This group discussed how to link to the GFCS process. This group can support the implementation planning and process – this is being developed now and our input is welcomed and needed. The group can also identify how specific activities determined at ICCS can be incorporated. This group and process needs to be a mutually reinforcing partnership (ensure systematic links between the two).

The group decided they could illustrate the utility of climate services and how they can be done successfully. Climate services are growing in importance – we can certainly bring that to the table. There are obviously different engagement plans that are already in the works, but if there is a common objective that we want to achieve, then having a roadmap of things we want to achieve would be vital. Lets develop that roadmap... after having solved the existential process of who we are.

When discussing how to link to other processes (Rio+20, UNFCCC, etc.), the group was constrained. The group felt the ICCS/CSP banner was not tangible enough to proceed. In addition, balancing the interests of individual institutions with that of the collective. The group also acknowledged that the ICCS as a partnership of institutions can only go so far to incorporate the concerns of member organizations.

Climate Services Partnership Action Plan

Fostering connections: the ICCS Process

Steve Zebiak Director International Research Institute for Climate and Society

In order to move forward, ICCS needs a coordinating group. This group is especially necessary for planning these types of conferences, which take time. Anyone who is interested in getting involved is welcome.

Additionally, we cannot wait for one year to pass before we act again. Rather, we need continuity on a more immediate timeframe. To interact via other relevant processes, we need to be continually engaged with each other's work and we should work in tandem with GFCS in the year before ICCS II in Sept of 2012.

Sharing Lessons Learned: CSP Knowledge Capture Portal

Guy Brasseur Director German Climate Service Center

This group identified three actions that can be taken immediately:

- 1. Developing a knowledge capture portal where participants can share knowledge and lessons learned.
- 2. Develop fact sheets about present and future climate for different regions of the world.
- 3. Producing a synopsis of organizations currently developing or using climate services and explaining how they relate.

Creating new knowledge: CSP working group actions

Each working group identified several actions that can be accomplished before the next ICCS meeting, scheduled for September 2012. These actions are included below.

Economic Valuation of Climate Services

This group identified three actions that can be taken over the next year:

- 1. Expand their ranks to establish a working group with representatives from both climate service practioners and economist
- 2. Meet both face to face (e.g., AMS in January; at the European Geoscience Union GA in April) and virtually.
- 3. Complete the climate service user matrix found in your presentation, identify existing research on valuation of climate services, to reach out to others, and to solicit feedback.

Good Practices in Climate Information

This group identified three actions that can be taken over the next year:

- 1. Questionnaire for meeting participants: What links exist between your climate service activities and a) the climate research community and b) users. This will result in a summary document that will highlight current approaches.
- 2. An in-depth case study of the IFRC-IRI Partnership to Save Lives.
- 3. Contribute to a workshop on climate services & disaster risk reduction.

Identifying User Needs

This group identified two activities that can be pursued over the next year:

- 1. The first of these is a information chain survey. This will allow the group to identify where in the chain different actors fit, and to illuminate the different needs of different groups.
- 2. The group will also perform case studies to identify any good practices in identifying user needs that may be transferable.

Knowledge Capture, Transfer and Exchange

This group identified three actions that can be taken over the next year:

- 1. Developing a knowledge capture portal where participants can share knowledge and lessons learned.
- 2. Develop fact sheets about present and future climate for different regions of the world.
- 3. Producing a synopsis of organizations currently developing or using climate services and explaining how they relate.

Linking to the GFCS and Other Processes

This group identified two actions that can be taken over the next year:

- 1. The CSP should support the development of the GFCS implementation plan over the next 12 months. (Note: an outline of the implementation plan is now available).
- 2. The CSP can provide specific activities to be integrated into the GFCS implementation plan, providing concrete activities for the 2, 4, 6, 10, and longer-term milestones that the plan will include.
- 3. A systematic link between the CSP and the GFCS at a management and coordination level needs to be established.

Concluding Remarks

Steve Zebiak Director General International Research Institute for Climate and Society

The end of ICCS I is the beginning of the Climate Services Partnership. The group has come up with many good ideas but now must organize for future activity. The Coordinating Committee of ICCS will be critical for this, and all institutions are welcome to join. This Committee will take the ideas produced from ICCS I and work to develop them. The Committee will also communicate those ideas with the rest of the conference attendees and IRI will serve as the central point of contact.

The knowledge management process is still developing and the resulting framework will be made known to all attendees, as will future developments with regard to the Conference Statement. The Committee will send out a revision of the statement based on the comments from this morning. Attendees will then have two weeks to submit further inputs. The Committee will distill those comments and communicate the re-revised Statement. Lastly, the Committee will be in touch regarding specific plans and a timeline for the upcoming year. It welcomes ICCS attendee contribution

to planning and would like to get a sense of the activities that each institution is presently involved with that could be of value to the knowledge exchange. The Committee will be in touch with each institution regarding those activities and will begin to compile information.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Conference Statement

The first International Conference on Climate Services met in New York on October 17-19, 2011. Already involved in a range of activities to develop and utilize climate services, participants agreed to form an open and informal Climate Services Partnership (CSP). The CSP is a global partnership that links climate service users and providers, creating a system of knowledge exchange that will help nations and individuals to thrive in the face of a changing climate.

To this end, the CSP will inform climate-smart decision-making for the benefit of society. It will help analyze and foster innovative practice and policy, establishing how effective climate services can help to achieve climate-smart decision-making and ultimately resulting in better development outcomes. The CSP will explore and improve processes of engagement between climate information providers, decision-makers, and policy communities.

The CSP effort will also advance the Global Framework for Climate Services, a formal international system to achieve coordinated support to the development of climate services worldwide.

Over the coming 12 months, the partners in the CSP have agreed to work together to:

- Establish a mechanism to share knowledge and lessons learned. This involves:
 - Outlining an initial framework for knowledge capture
 - Contributing their own experiences to the knowledge capture process in the form of case studies and evaluations
- Identify priority areas for focused attention in the development of new areas
 of knowledge, and to pursue mutually agreed-upon common work agendas
 around these areas, including:
 - Methods and structures to provide advice and support in identifying and developing the economic value of climate services and establishing good practices in policy engagement.
 - Establishing useful strategies for identifying user needs, in the use of climate information, and in bridging the gaps between science, practice, and policy communities
- Determine mechanisms and avenues to support the Global Framework for Climate Services and other relevant and interested initiatives, including:

- Supporting the GFCS implementation plan
- Providing specific activities to be integrated into the GFCS implementation plan at 2, 4, 6, 10, and longer-term milestones
- Continue the ICCS process to encourage continuing connections between climate information users, providers, researchers and donors.
 - Establish an open CSP coordinating group in order to answer questions of broadening membership, coordinating joint activities, sourcing funding, and planning the next ICCS.
 - Prepare for the next ICCS, which will be held in Hamburg, Germany, to take stock of CSP progress and wider progress on linkages between climate information users, providers, researchers and donors.

International Conference on Climate Services

October 17-19, 2011 NY, NY USA

Monday, October 17

8:00 a.m. Registration and Continental Breakfast

Plenary Sessions: Climate services in context

8:30 a.m. Welcome and Introduction

Stephen Zebiak, Director-General

International Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI)

9:00 a.m. Keynote: Climate Services for Decision and Policy Making

Jeffrey D. Sachs, Director

The Earth Institute, Columbia University

9:30 a.m. **Presentation of Global Framework for Climate Services**

Jeremiah Lengoasa, Deputy Secretary-General World Meteorological Organization (WMO)

10:00 a.m. Coffee break

Panel discussion: Climate services in practice

Moderated by **Chris Hewitt**, Head of Climate Services, UK Met Office

10:30 a.m. **National perspective: South Africa**

Bruce Hewitson, Professor University of Capetown

10:50 a.m. **National perspective: United States**

Thomas R. Karl, Director National Climatic Data Center

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)

11:10 a.m. **Needs Perspective: IFRC**

Maarten Van Aalst, Director

Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC/RC CC)

11:30 a.m. **Research Perspective: IRI**

Simon Mason, Chief Climate Scientist

International Research Institute for Climate and Society

11:50 p.m. Discussion

12:30 p.m. Lunch

Side Event

Global Framework on Climate Services:

Delivering Climate Information for Sustainable Development

World Meteorological Organization

Breakout session: Elements of successful climate services

2:30 p.m. **Introduction of breakout groups**

Guy Brasseur, Director

Climate Service Center, Germany

2:45 – 4:45 p.m. **Identifying the Demand for Climate Services**

John Furlow, Climate Change Specialist

Global Climate Change Team

US Agency for International Development

Creating, Accessing and Using Data

Carlo Scaramella, Coordinator

Climate Change and Disaster Risk Reduction

World Food Programme

Facilitating Systematic Knowledge Exchange

Daniela Jacob, Head

Climate System Department

Climate Service Center, Germany

4:45 p.m. Closing of Day One

Lawrence Buja, Director

Climate Science and Applications Program

National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR)

5-7 p.m. **Poster session and reception**

Tuesday, October 18

8:00 a.m. Continental Breakfast

Breakout session recap: Elements of successful climate services

8:30 a.m. Identifying the Demand for Climate Services

8:45 a.m. Creating, Accessing and Using Data

9:00 a.m. Facilitating Systematic Knowledge Exchange

9:15 a.m. Discussion

New perspectives: Climate services in practice

10 a.m. UK Perspective

Chris Hewitt, Head of Climate Services

UK Met Office

Breakout session: Enabling successful climate services

10:30 -12:30 p.m. **Engaging the Scientific Community**

Sylvie Joussaume, Director

Paris Consortium on Climate-Environment-Society

Designing Policies and Institutional Partnerships

Shiv Someshwar, Director of Climate Policy

Center of Globalization and Sustainable Development

Senior Advisor Regional Programs, IRI The Earth Institute, Columbia University

Establishing Innovative Funding Mechanisms

Kanta Kumari Rigaud, Senior Environmental Specialist

Environment Department, World Bank

12:30 p.m. Lunch

Breakout session recap: Enabling successful climate services

2 p.m. Engaging the Scientific Community

2:15 p.m. Designing Policies and Institutional Partnerships2:30 p.m. Establishing Innovative Funding Mechanisms

2:45 p.m. Discussion

Climate Services Partnership: Identifying priority work areas

3:15 p.m. **Proposal of priority work areas**

Walter Baethgen, Director of Regional Programs

International Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI)

3:30 – 5 p.m. Working group discussions around priority work areas

5-5:15 Closing of Day Two

Geoffrey Love

World Meteorological Organization

Wednesday, October 19

8:00 a.m. Continental Breakfast

Climate Services Partnership Action Plan

8:30 a.m. Presentation of Climate Services Partnership Action Plan

Stephen Zebiak, Director-General

International Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI)

9 a.m. CSP: ICCS Process

Summary of actions designed to encourage and sustain interactions

among different stakeholders

9:30 a.m. CSP: Knowledge Management System

Outline of strategy for enabling the distillation and dissemination

of existing knowledge

Example of CSP Contributions:

National Integrated Drought Information System (NIDIS)

Roger Pulwarty, Director

NIDIS, NOAA

10:30 Coffee break

10:45 **CSP:** Working Groups

Presentations from working groups on priority issues and possible

areas of collaboration

Close of conference

11:30 Concluding Remarks

Stephen Zebiak, Director-General

International Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI)

Appendix 3: Conference Roadmap



Appendix 4: Participant List

	First				
Surname	Name	Institution	Title	Email	
		British Consulate-General	HM Consul, Head of Science &		
Akrawi	May	Houston	Innovation	may.akrawi@gmail.com	
	-	AGRHYMET (Centre			
		Regional de Formation et			
		d'Application en			
		Agrométéorologie et			
Ali	Abdou	Hydrologie Opérationnelle)	Hydroclimatologist	abdou.ali.cra@gmail.com	
		Metropolitan Waterworks			
Alikpala	Ramon	and Sewerage System	Chair	rbalikpala@gmail.com	
	Jean-				
Amado	Christophe	Acclimatise North America	Risk Manager	jc.amado@acclimatise.ca	
		International Resources			
Anderson	Glen	Group	Senior Manager	ganderson@irgltd.com	
		International Research			
		Institute for Climate and	Director of Regional Climate		
Baethgen	Walter	Society (IRI)	Services	baethgen@iri.columbia.edu	
Baril	Pierre	Ouranos	Executive Director	baril.pierre@ouranos.ca	
		Swedish Meteorological and			
Barring	Lars	Hydrological Institute	Senior Scientist	Lars.Barring@smhi.se	
Beejadhur	Yuvan	World Bank	Counselor	ybeejadhur@worldbank.org	
Beejaana	ravan	International Research	Counstion	ysecjaanare worrasank.org	
		Institute for Climate and	International Development		
Bhojwani	Haresh	Society (IRI)	Officer	haresh@iri.columbia.edu	
		,	Executive Director, Centre for		
			Climate Risk and Opportunity		
			Management (CCROM),		
Boer	Rizaldi	Bogor Agriculture Institute	Southeast Asia/Pacific	rizaldiboer@gmail.com	
	Mohamm				
Boulahya	ed	Climate-Insight	ClimDevAfrica Associate	msboulahya@yahoo.fr	
Brasseur	Guy	Climate Service Center (CSC)	Director	guy.brasseur@gkss.de	
Біазэсиі	Guy	National Center for	Director, Climate Science and	guy.brasscur@gkss.uc	
Buja	Lawrence	Atmospheric Research	Applications Program	southern@rap.ucar.edu	
Duju	Lawrence	Lamont-Doherty Earth	/ Applications Frogram	<u>southerne-rapraearreaa</u>	
		Observatory of Columbia	G. Unger Vetlesen Professor of		
Cane	Mark	University	Earth and Climate Science	mcane@ldeo.columbia.edu	
		,	Global Climate Change Science		
Carr	Edward	USAID/EGAT/GCC	Adviser	edcarr@usaid.gov	
			Team Leader, Critical		
			Ecosystem Partnership Fund		
Carroll	Michael	World Bank Group	(CEPF)	mcarroll@worldbank.org	
Chan	Christina	U.S. Department of State	Foreign Affairs Officer	chanc1@state.gov	
Citati	Cinistilla	o.o. Department of State	Senior Policy Officer, Climate	Chancie State.gov	
		World Food Programme	Change and Disaster Risk		
Choularton	Richard	(WFP)	Reduction Office	Richard.Choularton@wfp.org	
	THE THE	Food and Agriculture	Senior Locust Forecasting		
Cressmen	Keith	Organisation (FAO)	Officer (Rome)	keith.cressman@fao.org	
		Climate Services Project,	Coordinator, Climate Services	KCITII.CI ESSITIATI@TAU.UI g	
Davis	Melanie	CLIM-RUN	project, CLIM-RUN	mdavis@ic3.cat	
de Messieres	Stephane	Oxfam America	Micro-Insurance Advisor	sdemessieres.oa@gmail.com	

Delecluse	Pascale	Météo France	Deputy Director, Research	Pascale.delecluse@meteo.fr
		African Centre of		
		Meteorological Applications		adiallo@acmad.org;
Diallo	Alhassane	for Development (ACMAD)	Director General	a2diyalo04@yahoo.fr
		US National Oceanic and	Deputy Director for Research,	
		Atmospheric Administration	Earth System Research	
Dole	Randall	(NOAA)	Laboratory,	Randall.M.Dole@noaa.gov
		Caribbean Institute for		
Farrell	David A.	Meteorology & Hydrology	Principal	dfarrell@cimh.edu.bb
		National Meteorological	Director of International	
Flores Liera	Perla	Service of Mexico	Relations of SMN of Mexico	perla.flores@conagua.gob.mx
		US Agency for International	Global Climate Change Team	
Furlow	John	Development (USAID)	Leader	jfurlow@usaid.gov
		National Institute of		j.ae.i. C siesa.a.ge.
Gonçalves	Junior	Meteorology, Mozambique		goncalves_j@inam.gov.mz
Goriçaives	Julioi	Weteorology, Wozambique	Senior Researcher in Climatic	goncaives_j@inam.gov.mz
Goodess	Clare	University of East Anglia	Research	s goodess@uee es uk
doodess	Clare		Research	c.goodess@uea.ac.uk
	Kin fo	Ethiopian Meteorological		kinfe_hm@yahoo.com
Hailemariam	Kinfe	Service		
			Theme Leader, Consultative	
			Group on International	
			Agricultural Research (CGIAR)	
		International Research	Research Program on Climate	
		Institute for Climate and	Change, Agriculture and Food	
Hansen	Jim	Society (IRI)	Security (CCAFS)	jhansen@iri.columbia.edu
Hewitson	Bruce	University of Capetown	Professor	hewitson@csag.uct.ac.za
	2.000	Cimeron, or capacions	Head of Climate Service	chris.hewitt@metoffice.gov.u
Hewitt	Chris	UK Met Office	Development	k
TICWICE	CITIS	US National Oceanic and	Bevelopment	<u>K</u>
		Atmospheric Administration	Director, Climate Prediction	
Higging	Marina	(NOAA)	Center	wayna higgina@naaa gay
Higgins	Wayne	, ,		wayne.higgins@noaa.gov
II a wa f all	F:	NOAA National Weather	Chief, Climate Services	Figure Harris II @ a con con
Horsfall	Fiona	Service	Division	Fiona.Horsfall@noaa.gov
			Head, Climate Systems	
Jacob	Daniela	Climate Service Center (CSC)	Department	daniela.jacob@hzg.de
		Health and Climate		
Jancloes	Michel	Foundation (HCF)	Secretary	michel.jancloes@gmail.com
		Paris Consortium of		
		Climate-Environment-		
Joussaume	Sylvie	Society	Director	sylvie.joussaume@lsce.ipsl.fr
		US National Oceanic and		
		Atmospheric Administration	NOAA Climate Service Interim	
Karl	Thomas	(NOAA)	Director	Thomas.R.Karl@noaa.gov
<u> </u>		Royal Netherlands		
		Meteorological Institute		
Kattenberg	Arie	(KNMI)		kattenbe@knmi.nl
		World Meteorological		
Lengoasa	Jeremiah	Organization (WMO)	Deputy Secretary General	JLengoasa@wmo.int
U		J	Professor, Marine Affairs and	0
Letson	David	University of Miami	Policy	dletson@rsmas.miami.edu
Lobato-	24114	National Meteorological		rene.lobato@conagua.gob.m
Sánchez	René	Service of México	Director of Meteorology	X
Januare	Neile	Service of IVIEXICO	Director or inferentialogy	_
Loboguerrero		National Planning		
Rodriguez	Ana Maria	Department, Colombia	Consultant	aloboguer@yahoo.com
	a .viaria	Climate Service Center		<u> </u>
Lord	Elke	Germany	Assistant to the Director	Elke.Lord@hzg.de
LUIU	LINE	Germany	הששוש וויים ווויים שוויים וויים	LIVE TOLOR MITS THE

	1	1	Director, Weather and	1
		World Meteorological	Disaster Risk Reduction	
Love	Geoffrey	Organization (WMO)	Services	glove@wmo.int
LOVE	dconrey	Organization (WWO)	Head, Global Framework for	giove@wino.int
Lucio	Filipe	wmo	Climate Services Office	flucio@wmo.int
Lucio	Timpe	Ceará State Foundation for	Cilifate Services Office	nuclo@ wino.iii
	Eduardo	Meteorology and Water		
Martins	Savio	Management (FUNCEME)	President	espr.martins@gmail.com
	34110	International Research	Trestaent	csprimar tinse giriam com
		Institute for Climate and		
Mason	Simon	Society (IRI)	Research Scientist	simon@iri.columbia.edu
		Centre of		
		Hydrometeorological	Deputy Head of Pollution	
		Service of the Republic of	Monitoring Service,	
Merkushkin	Aleksandr	Uzbekistan	Uzhydromet	asmerk@meteo.uz
		US National Oceanic and	International Program	
		Atmospheric Administration	Manager, Climate Program	
Muth	Meredith	(NOAA)	Office	Meredith.F.Muth@noaa.gov
Ndiaye	Ousmane	Senegalese National Service		ousmanen@yahoo.com
uiuyc	Justilarie	Centro Internacional para la		<u>odomanene yanoo.com</u>
		Investigación del Fenómeno		
Nieto	Juan José	de El Niño- CIIFEN	Sistemas de Informacion	j.nieto@ciifen-int.org
		Brazilian National Institute		Jimete C emen mererg
Nobre	Paulo	for Space Research (INPE)		pnobre@cptec.inpe.br
		British Consulate-General	Vice Consul for Science and	
Norton	Kerry	Atlanta	Innovation	kerry.norton@fco.gov.uk.
		Center for Ocean-		
		Atmospheric Prediction	Robert O. Lawton Professor of	
		Studies, Florida State	Meteorology and	
O'Brien	James	University, Tallahassee	Oceanography	JIM.OBRIEN@COAPS.FSU.EDU
		Pacific Institute for Climate		
Pedersen	Tom	Solutions (PICS)	Executive Director	picsdir@uvic.ca
		US National Oceanic and	Director, National Integrated	
		Atmospheric Administration	Drought Information System,	
Pulwarty	Roger	(NOAA)	Physical Sciences Division	roger.pulwarty@noaa.gov
		Climate Change Modeling		
		Specialist' with the United	Associate Research Scientist,	
B	NATala a al	Nations Development	Columbia University, Center	and the all the same of the same and
Puma	Michael	Programme	for Climate Systems Research	michael.j.puma@nasa.gov
		Regional Water Resources Committee, University of	Director of Meteorology and	
Ramirez	Patricia	Costa Rica	Climate	probando50cr@gmail.com
Kallillez	Kanta	Costa Rica	Cilillate	probandosoci@gman.com
Rigaud	Kumari	World Bank	Lead Adaptation Specialist	kkumari@worldbank.org
Rumbaitis del	Kuman	TOTA BATTA	zeaa naaptation specialist	CRumbaitisdelRio@rockfound
Rio	Cristina	Rockefeller Foundation	Associate Director	.org
1110	Cristina	Energy and Sustainable	Senior Scientist, Italian	1016
		Economic Development	National Agency for New	
Ruti	Paolo	(ENEA), Italy	Technologies	paolo.ruti@casaccia.enea.it
		Finnish Meteorological	Head of Group, Climate	
Ruuhela	Reija	Institute	Service Centre	reija.ruuhela@fmi.fi
				sachs@columbia.edu;
		The Earth Institute,		assistant: Heidi,
Sachs	Jeffrey D.	Columbia University	Director	hk2250@columbia.edu
			Senior Global Micro insurance	DSatterthwaite@oxfamameri
Satterthwaite	David	Oxfam	Officer	ca.org
Scaramella	Carlo	World Food Programme	Coordinator Climate Change	Carlo Scaramella@wfp.org
ocaramenta	Carlo	vvoriu rood Programme	Coordinator, Climate Change	Carlo.Scaramella@wfp.org

Climate Service Center (CSC), Germany Resources Management of Natural Resources Management of Natura			(WFP)	and Disaster Risk Reduction	
Schaller Michaela C(SC), Germany Resources Michaela, Schaller@hzg, de				Associate Director,	
Schwarze Reimund Climate Services Center (CSC), Germany Department Perimund.schwarze@hzg.de International Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI) Senior Research Staff Assistant Japanor Rodical Programs, IRI Programs, IRI Training Programs in Epidemiology and Public Health Interventions Network (TEPHINET); The Task Force for Global Health Substantian Projects (Oordinator, Climate Policy Coordinator, Climate Policy Coordinator, Climate Policy Center of Globalization and Sustainable Development Someshwar@iri.columbia.edu International Projects Coordinator, Climate Canter International Projects Coordinator, Climate Canter International Projects Coordinator, Climate Research, African Desk Support Wassila.Thiaw@noaa.gov Wassila.Thiaw@noaa.gov Wassila.Thiaw@noaa.gov Wassila.Thiaw@noaa.gov Vulk Massila.Thiaw@noaa.gov Vulk Massila			Climate Service Center	Management of Natural	
Climate Services Center (CSC), Germany Department Programs (Fig. 1)	Schaller	Michaela	(CSC), Germany	Resources	michaela.schaller@hzg.de
Schwarze Reimund CCSC, Germany Department reimund.schwarze@hzg.de				Head, Economics and Policy	
Sharoff	Schwarze	Reimund	(CSC), Germany		reimund.schwarze@hzg.de
Sharoff Jessica Society (IRI) Senior Research Staff Assistant jsharoff@iri.columbia.edu Snider Rod American Red Cross Senior Advisor Regional Programs, IRI The Earth Institute, Columbia University Center of Globalization and Sustainable Development Sustainable Development University Sustainable University Sustainable Development University Sustainable University Sustainable Development University			International Research		
Snider Rod American Red Cross Director of Climate Policy Center of Globalization and Sustainable Development SniderRod@usa.redcross.org Someshwar Shiv Director of Climate Policy Center of Globalization and Sustainable Development someshwar@iri.columbia.ed Someshwar Training Programs in Epidemiology and Public Health Interventions Network (TEPHINET); The Task Force for Global Health Associate Director rsubrams@tephinet.org Tanner Michael US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Senior Advisor, National Climate Projects Coordinator, Climate Processts, Climate Research, African Desk Support Michael.Tanner@noaa.gov Thiaw Wassila NOAA American Meteorological Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org Thomas Wendy Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org hazel.thornton@metoffice.go Thornton Hazel Helmholtz Regional Climate Program Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level Rise Climate Adaptation Team hazel.thornton@metoffice.go Treffeisen Renate Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Vaughan Lisa NOAA Program Manage			Institute for Climate and		
Semior Advisor Regional Programs, IRI The Earth Institute, Columbia University Training Programs in Epidemiology and Public Health Interventions Network (TEPHINET); The Task Force for Global Health Subramanian Renee Wichael Wassila NOAA American Meteorological Society The Methodic Regional Climate Program Manager, SARP Van Aalst Van Aalst Van Maarten Van Galba Vanghan Cathy US Geological Survey (USGS) Vaughan Director of Climate Policy Center of Global Health Sustainable Development Someshwar@iri.columbia.ed Fourthing Someshwar@iri.columbia.ed Someshwar@iri.columbia.ed Someshwar@iri.columbia.ed Associate Director Fusubamas@tephinet.org	Sharoff	Jessica	Society (IRI)	Senior Research Staff Assistant	jsharoff@iri.columbia.edu
Someshwar Shiv The Earth Institute, Columbia University Training Programs in Epidemiology and Public Health Interventions Network (TEPHINET); The Task Force for Global Health The Farth Institute, US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) International Projects Coordinator, Climate Forecasts, Climate Research, African Desk Support Wendy Met Office Hadley Centre, United Kingdom Teffeisen Renate Renate Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Van Aalst Maarten Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director Senior Advisor, National Climatic Data Center Clored Coordinator, Climate Forecasts, Climate Research, African Desk Support Whomas@ametsoc.org hazel.thornton@metoffice.go v.uk Whomas@ametsoc.org hazel.thornton@metoffice.go v.uk Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Adaptation Team Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate Treffeisen@awi.de Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Program Manager, SARP Coastal Project Isia.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project Isia.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Vardin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Sustainable Business Institute International Program Manager Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au Zebiak Steve Steve@iri.columbia.edu Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu Society (IRI) Steve@iri.columbia.edu	Snider	Rod	American Red Cross		SniderRod@usa.redcross.org
Someshwar Shiv The Earth Institute, Columbia University Training Programs in Epidemiology and Public Health Interventions Network (TEPHINET); The Task Force for Global Health The Farth Institute, US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) International Projects Coordinator, Climate Forecasts, Climate Research, African Desk Support Wendy Met Office Hadley Centre, United Kingdom Teffeisen Renate Renate Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Van Aalst Maarten Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director Senior Advisor, National Climatic Data Center Clored Coordinator, Climate Forecasts, Climate Research, African Desk Support Whomas@ametsoc.org hazel.thornton@metoffice.go v.uk Whomas@ametsoc.org hazel.thornton@metoffice.go v.uk Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Adaptation Team Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate Treffeisen@awi.de Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Program Manager, SARP Coastal Project Isia.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project Isia.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Vardin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Sustainable Business Institute International Program Manager Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au Zebiak Steve Steve@iri.columbia.edu Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu Society (IRI) Steve@iri.columbia.edu			Senior Advisor Regional	Director of Climate Policy	
Someshwar Shiv Columbia University u≥ Training Programs in Epidemiology and Public Health Interventions Network (TEPHINET); The Task Force for Global Health US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Associate Director rsubrams@tephinet.org Tanner Michael US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Senior Advisor, National Climatic Data Center Michael.Tanner@noaa.gov Thiaw Wassila NOAA International Projects Coordinator, Climate Forcasts, Climate Research, African Desk Support Wassila.Thiaw@noaa.gov Thomas Wendy Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org Thornton Hazel Met Office Hadley Centre, United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team hazel.thornton@metoffice.go Treffeisen Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de Treffeisen Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de Van Aalst Maarten Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project <th></th> <th></th> <th>_</th> <th></th> <th></th>			_		
Someshwar Shiv Columbia University □≥			The Earth Institute,	Sustainable Development	<pre><someshwar@iri.columbia.ed< pre=""></someshwar@iri.columbia.ed<></pre>
Epidemiology and Public Health Interventions Network (TEPHINET); The Task Force for Global Health Associate Director rsubrams@tephinet.org US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Tanner Michael NOAA Senior Advisor, National Climatic Data Center Occordinator, Climate Projects Coordinator, Climate Research, African Desk Support Wassila. Thiaw@noaa.gov Thiaw Wassila NOAA African Desk Support Wassila. Thiaw@noaa.gov Thomas Wendy Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org Met Office Hadley Centre, United Kingdom Climate Program Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate. Treffeisen@awi.de Van Aalst Maarten Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate Coastal Program Verdin@usgs.gov Von Flotow Paschen Institute Australian Bureau of Meteorology Manager Climate Services d. Manager Climate Services d. Manager Climate Services d. Malland@bom.gov.au Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu	Someshwar	Shiv	Columbia University		<u>u></u>
Health Interventions Network (TEPHINET); The Task Force for Global Health Associate Director			Training Programs in		
Network (TEPHINET); The Task Force for Global Health Associate Director rsubrams@tephinet.org			Epidemiology and Public		
Subramanian Renee Task Force for Global Health Associate Director rsubrams@tephinet.org Tanner Wichael US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Senior Advisor, National Michael. Tanner@noaa.gov Tanner Michael NOAA International Projects Coordinator, Climate Research, African Desk Support Wassila. Thiaw@noaa.gov Thiaw Wassila NOAA African Desk Support Wassila. Thiaw@noaa.gov Thomas Wendy Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org Thornton Hazel United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team v.uk Treffeisen Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de Treffeisen Read Cross Red Crescent Climate Adaptation Team Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de Van Aalst Maarten Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Lisa NOAA Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US G			Health Interventions		
Tanner Michael (NOAA) Senior Advisor, National Climatic Data Center Michael. Tanner@noaa.gov Michael (NOAA) Climatic Data Center Michael.Tanner@noaa.gov			Network (TEPHINET); The		
Tanner Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Senior Advisor, National Climatic Data Center Michael Tanner@noaa.gov Thiaw Wassila NOAA International Projects Coordinate Forecasts, Climate Research, African Desk Support Wassila.Thiaw@noaa.gov Thomas Wendy Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org Thornton Hazel United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team v.uk Treffeisen Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de Treffeisen Read Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) International Program Manager verdin@usgs.gov Von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au Zebiak Steve Scoiety (IRI)	Subramanian	Renee	Task Force for Global Health	Associate Director	rsubrams@tephinet.org
Tanner Michael (NOAA) Climatic Data Center Michael. Tanner@noaa.gov Thiaw Wassila NOAA International Projects Coordinator, Climate Forecasts, Climate Research, African Desk Support Wassila.Thiaw@noaa.gov Thomas Wendy Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org Thornton Hazel United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team hazel.thornton@metoffice.go Thornton Hazel United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team v.uk Treffeisen Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de Treffeisen Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de Van Aalst Maarten Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Manager verdin@usgs.gov von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Me			US National Oceanic and		
International Projects Coordinator, Climate Forecasts, Climate Research, African Desk Support Wassila. Thiaw@noaa.gov American Meteorological Society Policy Analyst Wthomas@ametsoc.org Met Office Hadley Centre, United Kingdom Program Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director Program Manager, SARP Coastal Project Vaughan Lisa NOAA Cathy IRI Staff Associate Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director Institute Executive Director Manager Climate Services Institute for Climate and Seve@iri.columbia.edu Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) International Projects Wassila.Thiaw@noaa.gov Wathomas@ametsoc.org hazel.thornton@metoffice.go v.uk Whomas@ametsoc.org hazel.thornton@metoffice.go v.uk Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Program Manager, SARP Coastal Project Iisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan@iri.columbia.edu International Program Manager Verdin@usgs.gov Manager Jevedinate Services Manager Climate Services Jeve@iri.columbia.edu Steve@iri.columbia.edu Jevediri.columbia.edu Jevediri.columbia.edu Jevediri.columbia.edu Jevediri.columbia.edu Jevediri.columbia.edu Jevediri.columbia.edu Jevediri.columbia.edu Jevediri.columbia.edu Jevediri.columbia.edu			Atmospheric Administration	Senior Advisor, National	
Thiaw Wassila NOAA African Desk Support Wassila. Thiaw@noaa.gov American Meteorological Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org Met Office Hadley Centre, United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team Y.uk Helmholtz Regional Climate Program Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Program Manager, SARP Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate Cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Manager verdin@usgs.gov Sustainable Business Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu	Tanner	Michael	(NOAA)	Climatic Data Center	Michael.Tanner@noaa.gov
Thiaw Wassila NOAA African Desk Support Wassila.Thiaw@noaa.gov Thomas Wendy Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org Met Office Hadley Centre, United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team V.uk Helmholtz Regional Climate Program Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Manager Vor Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu Steve@iri.columbia.edu Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu				International Projects	
Thiaw Wassila NOAA African Desk Support Wassila.Thiaw@noaa.gov Thomas Wendy Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org Thornton Hazel Met Office Hadley Centre, United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team hazel.thornton@metoffice.go Thornton Helmholtz Regional Climate Program Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de Treffeisen Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de Van Aalst Maarten Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Manager verdin@usgs.gov Von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@				Coordinator, Climate	
Thomas Wendy Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org Met Office Hadley Centre, United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team Helmholtz Regional Climate Program Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate. Treffeisen@awi.de Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Program Manager, SARP Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu International Program Wanager Verdin@usgs.gov Sustainable Business Institute Vaustralian Bureau of Meteorology Manager Climate Services Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services Jime Vistainable Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu Steve@iri.columbia.edu Steve@iri.columbia.edu Steve@iri.columbia.edu Steve@iri.columbia.edu				Forecasts, Climate Research,	
Thomas Wendy Society Policy Analyst wthomas@ametsoc.org Thornton Hazel Met Office Hadley Centre, United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team hazel.thornton@metoffice.go v.uk Treffeisen Renate Helmholtz Regional Climate Program Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de Van Aalst Maarten Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Manager verdin@usgs.gov Von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu	Thiaw	Wassila	NOAA	African Desk Support	Wassila.Thiaw@noaa.gov
Thornton Hazel United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team V.uk Helmholtz Regional Climate Program Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl Program Manager, SARP Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Manager verdin@usgs.gov Von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au International Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu Steve@iri.columbia.edu			American Meteorological		
Thornton Hazel United Kingdom Climate Adaptation Team v.uk Treffeisen Renate Regions and Sea Level Rise Renate Cross Red Crescent Red Cross Red Crescent Program Manager, SARP Vaughan Lisa NOAA Program Manager, SARP Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Manager verdin@usgs.gov von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu	Thomas	Wendy		Policy Analyst	
Helmholtz Regional Climate Program Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level Rise Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Program Manager, SARP Coastal Project Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate International Program Vanager Vardin Paschen Institute Executive Director Australian Bureau of Maland David Meteorology Manager Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de			•		hazel.thornton@metoffice.go
TreffeisenRenateProgram Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level RiseRenate.Treffeisen@awi.deVan AalstMaartenRed Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC)Associate Directormvanaalst@redcross.nlVaughanLisaNOAAProgram Manager, SARP Coastal Projectlisa.vaughan@noaa.govVaughanCathyIRIStaff Associatecvaughan@iri.columbia.eduVerdinJimUS Geological Survey (USGS)Managerverdin@usgs.govVerdinPaschenInstituteExecutive Directorflotow@instoec.deWallandDavidMeteorologyManager Climate Servicesd.walland@bom.gov.auWallandDavidMeteorologyManager Climate Servicesd.walland@bom.gov.auZebiakSteveSociety (IRI)Director-GeneralSteve@iri.columbia.edu	Thornton	Hazel		Climate Adaptation Team	<u>v.uk</u>
TreffeisenRenateRegions and Sea Level RiseRenate.Treffeisen@awi.deVan AalstMaartenClimate Centre (RC RC CC)Associate Directormvanaalst@redcross.nlVaughanLisaNOAAProgram Manager, SARP Coastal Projectlisa.vaughan@noaa.govVaughanCathyIRIStaff Associatecvaughan@iri.columbia.eduVerdinJimUS Geological Survey (USGS)Managerverdin@usgs.govvon FlotowPaschenInstituteExecutive Directorflotow@instoec.deWallandDavidMeteorologyManager Climate Servicesd.walland@bom.gov.auInternational Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI)Director-GeneralSteve@iri.columbia.edu			_		
Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC) Associate Director mvanaalst@redcross.nl			_		
Van AalstMaartenClimate Centre (RC RC CC)Associate Directormvanaalst@redcross.nlVaughanLisaNOAAProgram Manager, SARP Coastal Projectlisa.vaughan@noaa.govVaughanCathyIRIStaff Associatecvaughan@iri.columbia.eduVerdinJimUS Geological Survey (USGS)Managerverdin@usgs.govVon FlotowPaschenInstituteExecutive Directorflotow@instoec.deWallandDavidMeteorologyManager Climate Servicesd.walland@bom.gov.auVerdinInternational Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI)Director-GeneralSteve@iri.columbia.edu	Treffeisen	Renate	Regions and Sea Level Rise		Renate.Treffeisen@awi.de
Van AalstMaartenClimate Centre (RC RC CC)Associate Directormvanaalst@redcross.nlVaughanLisaNOAAProgram Manager, SARP Coastal Projectlisa.vaughan@noaa.govVaughanCathyIRIStaff Associatecvaughan@iri.columbia.eduVerdinJimUS Geological Survey (USGS)Managerverdin@usgs.govVon FlotowPaschenInstituteExecutive Directorflotow@instoec.deWallandDavidMeteorologyManager Climate Servicesd.walland@bom.gov.auVerdinInternational Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI)Director-GeneralSteve@iri.columbia.edu			Red Cross Red Crescent		
Vaughan Lisa NOAA Program Manager, SARP Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Manager verdin@usgs.gov Von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au International Research Institute for Climate and Secutive Services Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu	Van Aalst	Maarten		Associate Director	myanaalst@redcross nl
Vaughan Lisa NOAA Coastal Project lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Manager verdin@usgs.gov Von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Valland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au International Research Institute for Climate and Seeity (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu	Vali Adist	Widditcii	cimate centre (ne ne ce)		invariaaist@Teacross.iii
Vaughan Cathy IRI Staff Associate cvaughan@iri.columbia.edu Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) International Program Manager verdin@usgs.gov Von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au International Research Institute for Climate and Sebiak Steve@iri.columbia.edu Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu	Vaughan	Lisa	NOAA		lisa.vaughan@noaa.gov
Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) International Program verdin@usgs.gov von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au International Research Institute for Climate and Sebiak Steve Steve@iri.columbia.edu				,	
Verdin Jim US Geological Survey (USGS) Manager verdin@usgs.gov von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au International Research Institute for Climate and Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu	Vaugnan	Cutify			cvaughanem.colambia.caa
Von Flotow Paschen Sustainable Business Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au International Research Institute for Climate and Sebiak Steve Steve@iri.columbia.edu	Verdin	Jim	US Geological Survey (USGS)	_	verdin@usgs.gov
von Flotow Paschen Institute Executive Director flotow@instoec.de Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au International Research Institute for Climate and Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu		-			
Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au International Research Institute for Climate and Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu	von Flotow	Paschen		Executive Director	flotow@instoec.de
Walland David Meteorology Manager Climate Services d.walland@bom.gov.au International Research Institute for Climate and Zebiak Institute for Climate and Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu					
International Research Institute for Climate and Zebiak Steve Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu	Walland	David		Manager Climate Services	d.walland@bom.gov.au
Zebiak Steve Institute for Climate and Society (IRI) Director-General Steve@iri.columbia.edu			Ü,		
, , , ,			Institute for Climate and		
	Zebiak	Steve	Society (IRI)	Director-General	Steve@iri.columbia.edu
			School of Earth Sciences,		
Zillman John University of Melbourne Vice Chancellor's Fellow J.Zillman@bom.gov.au>	Zillman	John	University of Melbourne	Vice Chancellor's Fellow	J.Zillman@bom.gov.au>
National Climate Center,					
China Meteorological			China Meteorological		
Zuqiang Zhang Administration Deputy Director-General zhangzq@cma.gov.cn	Zuqiang	Zhang	_	Deputy Director-General	zhangzq@cma.gov.cn

Walter Baethgen

Walter E. Baethgen is the Director of the Program for Latin America and the Caribbean in the International Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI - The Earth Institute, Columbia University). In the IRI he has been establishing regional research programs that aim to improve climate risk assessment and risk management in agriculture, health, water resources, and natural ecosystems. Since August 2010 Baethgen has been acting as Distinguished Lead Scholar of the NEXUS program (Fulbright Foundation) that aims to inform the elaboration of policy with scientific research. Before joining the IRI Baethgen was a Senior Scientist in the Research and Development Division of IFDC (International Soil Fertility and Agricultural Development Center) where he worked mainly in Information and Decision Support Systems for the Agricultural Sector (1987-2003). Since 1990 (first with IFDC and now with the IRI) he has been establishing and coordinating regional research programs in Latin America in collaboration with National and International organizations.

Dr Baethgen has acted as a consultant for the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), the United Nations (UNDP, UNIDO, FAO), the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), the World Bank and the Inter-American Institute for Agricultural Science (IICA). He participated as Principal Investigator in several NOAA and NASA International research programs. He also acted as consultant for the governments of Brazil, Paraguay, Guatemala and Uruguay, and for the private sector in Argentina, Uruguay and Venezuela. He was a lead author for IPCC's Second (1995) and Third (2001) Assessments Reports and contributing author for the Fourth Assessment (2007), as well as the review editor for IPCC's special issue on Technology Transfer (2000). He serves or has served as a member of scientific advisory committees of several International organizations including the CGIAR's Science Council, IAI (Inter-American Institute for Global Change Research) Science Advisory Committee, CIIFEN (Centro Internacional para la Investigacion del Fenomeno de El Nino), IGBP and WMO. He was also reviewer of several International research programs (NOAA, NASA, NSF, IAI, German government, Norwegian government). Baethgen is an Editorial Board Member of the peer-reviewed journals Agricultural Systems (Elsevier Science) and Journal of the International Hydrological Programme (UNESCO).

Guy Brasseur

Since 2009, Guy Brasseur is the director of the Climate Service Center. Before, he was associate director of the National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR), Boulder, Colorado, and head of NCARs Earth and Sun Systems Laboratory (ESSL). From 1999 to 2006 he was director at the Max Planck Institute for Meteorology, Hamburg, and the German Climate Computing Center (DKRZ). Guy Brasseur was a Coordinating Lead Author for the fourth Assessment Report (Working Group 1) of

the Intergovernmental Panel for Climate Change (IPCC), which was awarded the Nobel Peace Prize in 2007. The Belgian scientist was chair of the International Geosphere Biosphere Programme (IGBP), he is doctor honoris causa of the universities Paris VII, Oslo and Athens and has been honored for his scientific work several times. Currently he gives lectures at the University of Hamburg and the Free University of Brussels. In the past he was visiting lecturer in Kyoto, São Paulo, Beijing, Wuppertal und Paris, inter alia.

Lawrence Buja

Dr. Lawrence Buja is the Director of the Climate Science and Applications Program (CSAP) at the National Center for Atmospheric Research in Boulder Colorado. CSAP addresses societal vulnerability, impacts and adaptation to climate change through the use of scenarios of projected climate change, development of tools and methods for analyzing current and future vulnerability, and integrated analyses of climate impacts and adaptation at local, regional and global scales. Previously, Dr Buja was scientific project manager for NCAR's simulations of the earth's past, present and future climates with NCAR's Community Climate System Model that made up the joint US NSF/DOE submission to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Lawrence is a contributing author to both the 2001 IPCC Third Assessment Report (AR3) and the breakthrough IPCC AR4 in 2007 Lawrence also works closely with the World Bank, the InterAmerican Development Bank and other international agencies applying NCAR's climate and social science expertise to help guide sustainable development strategies throughout the developing world.

John Furlow

John Furlow is a Climate Change Specialist in USAID's Office of Environment and Science Policy. John joined the Global Climate Change team in April, 2006 and leads the team's work on adaptation. He is responsible for interagency policy development in this technical area and participates in international deliberations representing USAID and the USG. John led the development of USAID's Climate Change Adaptation Guidance Manual and the Climate Change and Coastal Management Guide. He also led the development of the Climate Mapper, a tool providing map-based access to historical weather data and projected climate data. He is also the USAID lead on the Adaptation Partnership. Prior to joining USAID, John worked with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Global Change Research Program, where he designed and managed projects examining the impacts of climate change on water quality.

Bruce Hewitson

Bruce Hewitson is Professor of Climatology at the University of Cape Town. He obtained his PhD from Penn State University in 1991 and has been instrumental in developing a strong climate change research capacity in South Africa. Professor Hewitson was a coordinating lead author for the regional projections chapter in the

Inter-Governmental Panel on Climate Change Third and Fourth Assessment Reports. His main interests are the development of methodologies for regional scale climate change projections and developing the use of climate modeling within Africa to explore sub-equatorial climate processes, in particular issues related to Africa landuse / land cover. The research has a strong focus on supporting the climate change needs within Africa. He participates in, as well as coordinates, a number of activities on climate change capacity development in Africa, including the development and dissemination of tailored regional projections to support the policy and adaptation communities.

Chris Hewitt

Dr Chris Hewitt is Head of the Climate Service at the Met Office in the UK, responsible for developing strategic relationships with key partners within the UK and overseas to improve, and maximize the use of, climate service capabilities. Chris joined the Met Office in 1990 to undertake climate change research, working in the Hadley Centre for more than 10 years, then from 2002 instigated and led a major program on climate change and climate change impacts on behalf of the European Commission. In 2007 he became a senior manager in the Met Office's business area responsible for providing weather and climate services to industry, before moving into the current position in 2009 to focus on climate services to all sectors of society. He has considerable international experience through research collaborations, project and program management, and international panels, most recently on the World Meteorological Organization's Global Framework for Climate Services, and European Met Services' plans for climate services.

Daniel Jacob

As head of the Climate Systems department of the German Climate Service Center, Prof. Dr. Daniela Jacob gathers information about climate change and supports partners from science, industry and administration in interpreting the data. After studying meteorology in Darmstadt Jacob graduated in Hamburg, working at the Helmholtz-Zentrum Geesthacht Research Centre Geesthacht. Afterwards she worked at the National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR) in Boulder, Colorado. Since 1993 she does research at the Max Planck Institute for Meteorology in Hamburg, where she developed the regional climate model REMO, which can be used to calculate the regional impact of climate change. Since 2009 Daniela Jacob is Professor at University of Bergen, Norway. In June 2010 she was appointed to be one of the Leading Authors of the fifth Assessment Report (Working Group 2) of the International Panel for Climate Change (IPCC).

Sylvie Joussaume

Sylvie Joussaume is a senior researcher within CNRS. She is an expert in climate modeling. She has developed an international project on paleoclimate modeling, the "Paleoclimate Modeling Intercomparison Project" aiming at understanding the

mechanisms of climate change and at evaluating climate models using past proxydata. She has been involved in IPCC assessment reports since the third report. Previously she was appointed as director of the Institut National des Sciences de l'Univers (INSU) from CNRS (http://www.insu.cnrs.fr/) which coordinates national research in the fields covering earth sciences, from the earth interior to the surface, astronomy and astrophysics as well as space research. She is now leading a consortium of laboratories around Paris devoted on "climate, environment and society". This consortium is aiming at developing interdisciplinary researches on climate change and its impacts. She is also chairing the scientific board of the European Network for Earth System modeling (ENES, http://www.enes.org) and coordinates the FP7 infrastructure project IS-ENES, which integrates the European climate models in a common infrastructure (http://is.enes.org) (2009-2013).

Tom Karl

Tom Karl, L.H.D., received his B.S. degree in Meteorology from Northern Illinois University, DeKalb, in 1973, his Masters Degree from the University of Wisconsin, Madison, in 1974, and he was awarded an honorary Doctorate of Humane Letters from North Carolina State University in 2002.Karl has received many awards and recognition for his work in climate, observing systems, and data stewardship including: four Gold Medals from the Department of Commerce and one Bronze Medal; the American Meteorological Society's Suomi Award; National Associate of the National Academy of Sciences; the NOAA Administrator's Award, and several others.

He currently is the Director of NOAA's National Climatic Data Center and NOAA's Program Manager for Climate Observations and Analysis. A Fellow of the American Meteorological Society and of the American Geophysical Union, Karl has published more than 125 peer-reviewed articles and several books as Editor and Contributor. He has also given numerous testimonies to the U.S. Congress and briefings to Vice President and Presidents of the United States. In 2002, Karl was elected to serve on the Council of the American Meteorological Society. He has also served as Editor of the Journal of Climate (1997-2000) and as Lead Author of several IPCC reports and Co-Chair of the US National Assessment.

Jeremiah Lengoasa

Jeremiah Lengoasa has been Deputy Secretary-General of WMO since 1 March 2010. Prior to this, he was Assistant Secretary-General of WMO since 8 August 2005. He holds Master's degrees in Climatology and Development Management from Witwatersrand University, Johannesburg, South Africa, and for several years worked as a teacher and university lecturer in geography and environmental studies. Mr Lengoasa served in the South African public service in the areas of environment, environmental regulations and environmental quality and protection, followed by a period in the private sector as a senior bank manager. From 2003 to 2005, Mr Lengoasa was Chief Executive Officer of the South African Weather Service and

Permanent Representative of South Africa with WMO and was a member of the WMO Executive Council.

Geoff Love

Dr Geoff Love is currently the Director, Weather and Disaster Risk Reduction Services, of the World Meteorological Organization (WMO), based in Geneva, Switzerland. In this role Dr Love is working to assist in improving the capacity of National Meteorological and Hydrological Services around the globe to provide basic weather services for the public, specialized weather services for weather sensitive industries such as those in the aviation and marine sectors and to improve their response to the full range of weather-related natural disasters such as tropical cyclones, floods, bushfires and the like. This work is a natural continuation of the interests that have driven Dr Love through his 33-year career, largely with the Australian Bureau of Meteorology, as a weather forecaster, climate scientist, researcher and senior administrator.

Dr Love also manages the secretariat of the High-Level Taskforce for the Global Framework for Climate Services. This Taskforce is developing a report that will describe a costed strategy and timeline for the implementation of a new, UN coordinated system for the world-wide production and dissemination of climate services. The Taskforce is to complete its work by 12 January 2011 with its report to be considered by the UN Secretary-General, and by the WMO Congress in May 2011 for action. Dr Love has also participated in the international climate change-related negotiation process, in a variety of capacities, over the past decade. Dr Love has been a senior administrator in the public sector for over two decades, first becoming the Bureau's Regional Director in the Northern Territory in 1984 and finally taking up the post of Director of Meteorology in August 2003. Dr Love has a strong interest in promoting international cooperation in meteorology and, for a large part of his career, worked to see that all aspects of Australian meteorology, including research, systems and services, are constantly benchmarked against the best in North America, Asia and Europe.

Simon Mason

Simon Mason is chief climate scientist at the International Research Institute for Climate and Society (IRI), taking a lead role in international outreach from the IRI's Climate Program, and leading the IRI's disaster work. He was a member of the drafting team for the High-Level Task Force on the Global Framework for Climate Services, and is a focal point for the IRI's Partnership to Save Lives with the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC). He has been heavily involved in capacity building activities, including leading the development and support of the Climate Predictability Tool (CPT). Mason has been involved in seasonal climate forecasting research and operations since the early 1990s.

Dr. Mason has published numerous papers on seasonal climate forecasting and verification, climate change, and southern African climate variability. He has extensive experience in the production of seasonal climate forecasts in contexts such as the Regional Climate Outlook Forums, and works closely with the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) to promote the definition and adoption of forecasting and verification standards through engagement in relevant WMO Expert Teams and through the WMO CLIPS Capacity Building Workshops. Mason joined the IRI in 1997, working initially at the Scripps Institution of Oceanography, and moving to Columbia University in 2003. Prior to joining the IRI, Mason was Deputy Director of the Climatology Research Group at the University of the Witwatersrand, in South Africa, where he developed empirical models for predicting southern African rainfall variability. Mason is a Visiting Senior Fellow in the Centre for Analysis of Time Series at the London School of Economics and Political Science.

Roger Pulwarty

Roger Pulwarty is the Climate and Societal Interactions Division Chief, and the Director of the multi-agency National Integrated Drought Information System at NOAA. His research and publications focus on climate, vulnerability assessment and climate services. Dr. Pulwarty is a Convening Lead Author on "Adaptation Implementation" in the forthcoming IPCC Fifth Assessment, the IPCC Special Report on Extremes, and on the UN International Strategy for Disaster Risk Reduction Global Assessment. Roger has acted in advisory and research capacities on climate and natural resources management to several U.S. and international interests including the Western US Governors, Federal agencies, the Caribbean Economic Community (CARICOM), the Organization of American States, United Nations agencies, and the InterAmerican Development and World Banks. Roger led the Vulnerability and Capacity Component of the World Bank/GEF-funded project on Mainstreaming Adaptation to Climate Change in the Caribbean. He is an Adjunct Professor at University of Colorado and the University of the West Indies. Roger has testified before the U.S. Congress on climate adaptation, early warning, and water resources. He was the co-recipient of the 2008 NOAA Administrator and the 2010 Department of Commerce 2010 Gold Medal awards for achievements in integrating science into decision-making.

Kanta Kumari Rigaud

Kanta Kumari Rigaud has more than 25 years professional experience in natural resources management (NRM), environment management, and climate change/adaptation issues and has worked with WWF, at CSERGE a policy think tank in the at the University of East Anglia, the Global Environment Facility and is presently at the World Bank. She is currently the Lead Adaptation Specialist and WB coordinator of the Pilot Program for Climate Resilience where she oversees the adaptation policy work, knowledge exchange and analytical work related to the adaptation agenda. Through the PPCR program she is working through the teams in the 18 participating countries to nurture shared learning, knowledge exchange and

communities of practice to advance the climate resilient agenda. She has worked in a wide range of countries globally, but most recently was in the Middle East North Africa Region of the Bank where she spearheaded several adaptation initiatives related to the coastal zone, rainfed areas and forests. She has a Masters in Ecology and a PhD in Environmental Economics from the United Kingdom.

Jeffrey D. Sachs

Jeffrey D. Sachs is the Director of The Earth Institute, Quetelet Professor of Sustainable Development, and Professor of Health Policy and Management at Columbia University. He is also Special Advisor to United Nations Secretary-General Ban Ki-moon. From 2002 to 2006, he was Director of the UN Millennium Project and Special Advisor to United Nations Secretary-General Kofi Annan on the Millennium Development Goals, the internationally agreed goals to reduce extreme poverty, disease, and hunger by the year 2015. Sachs is also President and Co-Founder of Millennium Promise Alliance, a nonprofit organization aimed at ending extreme global poverty.

Professor Sachs is widely considered to be the leading international economic advisor of his generation. For more than 20 years Professor Sachs has been in the forefront of the challenges of economic development, poverty alleviation, and enlightened globalization, promoting policies to help all parts of the world to benefit from expanding economic opportunities and wellbeing. He is also one of the leading voices for combining economic development with environmental sustainability, and as Director of the Earth Institute leads large-scale efforts to promote the mitigation of human-induced climate change.

He is internationally renowned for his work as economic advisor to governments in Latin America, Eastern Europe, the former Soviet Union, Asia and Africa, and his work with international agencies on problems of poverty reduction, debt cancellation for the poorest countries, and disease control. He is a Research Associate of the National Bureau of Economic Research. Sachs has been an advisor to the IMF, the World Bank, the OECD, the World Health Organization, and the United Nations Development Program, among other international agencies. During 2000-2001, he was Chairman of the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health of the World Health Organization, and from September 1999 through March 2000 he served as a member of the International Financial Institutions Advisory Commission established by the U.S. Congress.

Carlo Scaramella

Carlo Scaramella is the global Coordinator for Climate Change, Environment and Disaster Risk Reduction at the United Nations World Food Programme (WFP), and the leading expert of the organization in this field. WFP is the UN frontline agency in the fight against hunger and the largest UN humanitarian agency. On average, every year WFP reaches over 100 million among the poorest and most vulnerable people

worldwide. Working on the frontline of disasters, WFP delivers food assistance interventions that promote multiple co-benefits in terms of resilience building, climate change adaptation, disaster risk reduction, social protection and natural resource management, among others.

Mr. Scaramella has spent about half of his professional career working in the crisis areas in countries like Sudan, Angola, El Salvador, and Somalia, among others. Mr. Scaramella has also been responsible for establishing and leading WFP's Emergency Preparedness and Response Branch and its global Early warning – Early action services and systems. He led complex interagency programs and initiatives and for several years chaired specialized interagency working groups on disaster preparedness. Mr. Scaramella holds a Doctorate in Political Science and prior to joining the UN has conducted academic work in the areas of development cooperation, humanitarian assistance and food security.

Shiv Someshwar

Dr. Shiv Someshwar is a research faculty member at Columbia University in New York. An expert in climate change adaptation and development policy, Dr. Someshwar has led numerous multidisciplinary projects that build resilience to climate risks in developing countries. He advises governments in identifying adaptation priorities, and serves as an advisor to UNDP's Bureau of Crisis Prevention and Recovery to integrate climate adaptation and disaster risk reduction efforts. He helped develop Columbia s graduate program in Climate and Society, where he also teaches. Previously, he was at the Rockefeller Foundation and at the World Bank. Dr. Someshwar received his Ph.D. in environment and public policy from the University of California, Los Angeles, and was a post-doctoral fellow at Harvard University.

Maarten Van Aalst

As director of the Red Cross/Red Crescent Climate Centre Maarten van Aalst coordinates support to climate risk management across the Red Cross/Red Crescent, analysis and documentation of experience, and links with scientific and policy communities on climate change, disaster risk management and development planning. He has worked on adaptation to climate change and disaster risk reduction since 1999, including at the World Bank, African Development Bank, Inter-American Development Bank, OECD and UNDP. He is Coordinating Lead Author of the forthcoming IPCC Special Report on managing extremes, Lead Author of the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, and holds an adjunct appointment as Research Scientist at the International Research Institute for Climate and Society, Columbia University. Maarten obtained his Ph.D. in Atmospheric Science from Utrecht University.

Stephen Zebiak

Dr. Stephen E. Zebiak is director general of the International Research Institute for Climate and Society at Columbia University, which uses a science-based approach to enhance society's ability to understand, anticipate and manage climate risk to improve human welfare. As director, he leads an inter-disciplinary team of over 40 scientists specializing in climate prediction, agriculture, health, water, economics and development policy. Dr. Zebiak has worked in the area of ocean-atmosphere interaction and climate variability since completing his Ph.D. at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1984. He and Dr. Mark Cane authored the first dynamical model used to predict El Niño successfully. He has published extensively in journals such as *Science, Nature,* the *International Journal of Climatology,* and has served as an advisor to a range of US and international climate research programs.

Appendix 6: WMO Side Event on GFCS

Why a Global Framework for Climate Services?

Dr. Geoff Love World Meteorological Organization

There is a need for a global focus on climate services. There are differences between what academics identify as a need and what end users identify as a need. Also, 10 countries account for 76% of the World's engineers and scientists. As a result, there are major gaps in the observing system are predominantly in the developing world. There is a need for a north-south transfer of capacity. There is also a need for a local, regional, national, and international focus.

The Global Framework for Climate Services allows for flexibility. The framework focuses on the following elements:

- > Inputs
- Mechanisms
- Outcomes

The User Interface Platform (UPS) will:

- 1. Establish processes to bring people together to continuously monitor the requirements for climate services
- 2. Monitor the user satisfaction with the overall performance of the GFCS
- 3. Provide education and training for climate service users

The framework will also focus on the climate observations to meet the publics' need for data and information. There will also be a focus on capacity building efforts; this will have to be north-south, south-south, south-north transfer of knowledge.

No one country, or even regional alliance, can meet the global need for climate services. Many of the required services are public goods in nature, but of course this means that many will be commercial. Governments have a key role to play, but NGOS and the private sector do too. The solution must be a framework and it must be global.

Development of GFCS: The WMO contribution and the need for many partners

David Grimes President, WMO

The GFCS needs to be a partnership initiative. The objective is to establish a globally integrated system for the provision of operational climate prediction and information services. It will operate from 2012-2015, and will produce,

significant socio-economic / environmental benefits especially for the most vulnerable. The factor most critical to success is that it must engage all contributors in the climate arena.

The key implementation mechanisms of the GFCS are:

- To strengthen global cooperative systems for exchange of data information
- To create projects aimed for those least able to provide climate services
- To identify strategies for communications, resource mobilization and capacity building
- To establish mechanism for governance for priority setting
- To establish targets for monitoring and evaluating performance

A special emphasis will be placed on communicating with end users.

The User Interface Platform (UIP) will allow climate services to be delivered through intermediaries. It will also help the diverse range of user communities use different jargon, business models and preferred modes of sharing information. Effective climate services will require a degree of tailoring.

Appendix 7: ICCS List of Vision Paper Topics

Baril, P. Ouranos in the context of the International Conference on Climate Services. Ouranos.

Goodness, C. A climate services pilot program – a vision paper. Climatic Research Unit, University of East Anglia, UK.

Harijono, S.W.B. Call for Partnership to Build Effective Climate Services in Indonesia. Indonesian Agency for Meteorology Climatology and Geophysics.

Helminen, J., Goncalves, J., Gaiani, S. and E. Sutinen. Development of Innovative Community Climate Services for Agriculture in the Chokwe District, Mozambique (DICCLISEAG)

Higgins, W. and W. Thiaw. Vision for Pilot Programs for International Climate Services from the CPC Perspective. Climate Prediction Center: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.

Horsfall, F., Timofeyeva, M. Addressing the Need for Integrated Environmental Services. National Weather Services: Climate Services Division, Silver Spring, MD.

Letson, D. and J.J. O'Brien. Organizing a Pilot Program in Climate Services: the Southeast Climate Consortium.

Ruuhela, R. A Roadmap from Climate Service to Climate Change Service. Some present activities of the Climate Service Centre in Finland. Climate Service Centre, Finnish Meteorological Institute (FMI)

Schwarze, R., Navarra, A., and G. Brasseur. Developing Climate Services in Europe: The Challenges Ahead. German Climate Services Center.

Thomas, W.M. International Conference on Climate Services (ICCS): Vision Paper for Global Climate Network. American Meteorological Society

UNEP FI & SBI. "Advancing adaptation through climate information services: Results of a global survey on the information requirements of the financial sector." UNEP Financial Initiative and Sustainable Business Institute. January 2011.

Appendix 8: List of Posters Presented

Advanced Adaptation through Climate Information Services Results of a Global Survey on the International Requirements of the Financial Sector Paschen von Flotow Sustainable Business Institute

CCAFS Work in Kaffrine, Senegal Ousmane Ndiaye Senegalese Meteorological Service

Climate Services and Environmental Services: German Climate Services Center and its Natural Resources Management Dept. Michaela Schaeller Climate Services Center, Germany

Climate Services in the West Coast of South America: Understanding Our Climate, Learning to Live Together Juan Jose Nieto Centro Internacional para la Investigacion del Fenomeno de El Nino

CLIM-RUN: Climate Local Information in the Mediterranean Region Responding to User Needs
Paolo Ruti
Italian National Agency for New Technologies

CSC Panel Experts for the Joint Programing Initiative Elke Lord Assistant to the Director German Climate Service Center

EUMETNET Coordination of Member Climate Services Arie Kattenberg Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute

FAO Desert Early Warning System Keith Cressmen Senior Locust Forecasting Officer UN Food and Agriculture Organisation

German Climate Service Center Overview Elke Lord Assistant to the Director German Climate Service Center The Impact of Climate Change on the British Rail Network Hazel Thorton UK Met Office

KNMI Climate Services to Dutch Policymakers Arie Kattenberg Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute

Online Short Courses as "Climate Services" Tom Pedersen Pacific Institute for Climate Solutions

Research Findings for the First EU-Funded Climate Service Project Melanie Davis Coordinator, Climate Services CLIM-RUN

A Roadmap from Climate Services to Climate Change Services: Some Present Activities of the Climate Service Centre in Finland Reija Ruuhela Finish Meteorological Institute

TEPHINET: A Global Network of Epidemiologists Renee Subramanian Training Programs in Epidemiology and Public Health Interventions Network (TEPHINET)

The Networks of the Helmholtz Regional Climate Offices Renate Treffeisen Program Office for Polar Regions and Sea Level Rise

WMO Regional Climate Centers of RA VI Arie Kattenberg Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute

Appendix 9: CSP Coordinating Committee

Anderson	Glen	International Resources Group
		International Research Institute for Climate and
Baethgen	Walter	Society (IRI)
Barring	Lars	Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute
		International Research Institute for Climate and
Bhojwani	Haresh	Society (IRI)
Boulahya	Mohammed	Climate-Insight Climate-Insight
Brasseur	Guy	Climate Service Center (CSC)
Buja	Lawrence	National Center for Atmospheric Research
Carr	Edward	USAID/EGAT/GCC
Chan	Christina	U.S. Department of State
Choularton	Richard	World Food Programme (WFP)
Farrell	David A.	Caribbean Institute for Meteorology & Hydrology
Furlow	John	USAID
Gonçalves	Junior	National Institute of Meteorology, Mozambique
Hewitt	Chris	UK Met Office
Joussaume	Sylvie	Paris Consortium of Climate-Environment-Society
		US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
Karl	Thomas	(NOAA)
Kattenberg	Arie	Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute (KNMI)
Lord	Elke	Climate Service Center Germany
Lucio	Filipe	WMO
		US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
Muth	Meredith	(NOAA)
Nobre	Paulo	Brazilian National Institute for Space Research (INPE)
Norton	Kerry	British Consulate-General Atlanta
Rigaud	Kanta Kumari	World Bank
Scaramella	Carlo	World Food Programme (WFP)
		US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
Tanner	Michael	(NOAA)
Van Aalst	Maarten	Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre (RC RC CC)
Vaughan	Cathy	IRI
		International Research Institute for Climate and
Zebiak	Steve	Society (IRI)
Zillman	John	School of Earth Sciences, University of Melbourne